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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)   

  QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

  For the quarterly period ended July 31, 2013

  OR
¨  TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

  For the transi/on period from             to             
Commission file number 1-6089

H&R Block, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

MISSOURI  44-0607856
(State or other jurisdic2on of  (I.R.S. Employer

incorpora2on or organiza2on)  Iden2fica2on No.)

One H&R Block Way, Kansas City, Missouri 64105
(Address of principal execu2ve offices, including zip code)

(816) 854-3000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Sec2on 13 or 15(d) of the Securi2es
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes  No ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submi>ed electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every
Interac2ve Data File required to be submi>ed and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regula2on S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

Yes  No ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller
repor2ng company. See the defini2ons of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller repor2ng company” in Rule 12b-2
of the Exchange Act. (Check one)

Large accelerated filer           Accelerated filer ¨         Non-accelerated filer ¨         Smaller repor2ng company ¨
(Do not check if a smaller repor2ng company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes ̈  No  

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s Common Stock, without par value, at the close of business on August 31, 2013:
273,863,581 shares.
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PART I    FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(in 000s, except share and 

per share amounts) 
As of  July 31, 2013  July 31, 2012  April 30, 2013

  (unaudited)  (unaudited)   
ASSETS       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,163,876  $ 939,871  $ 1,747,584

Cash and cash equivalents — restricted  55,477  43,109  117,837

Receivables, less allowance for doubMul accounts of $52,606, $43,477 and $50,399  121,309  116,357  206,835

Prepaid expenses and other current assets  356,662  318,262  390,087

Mortgage loans held for sale  7,608  —  —

Total current assets  1,704,932  1,417,599  2,462,343
Mortgage loans held for investment, less allowance for loan losses of $15,514, $22,185 and
$14,314  309,681  386,759  338,789

Investments in available-for-sale securi2es  487,033  380,765  486,876
Property and equipment, at cost less accumulated deprecia2on and amor2za2on of
$432,681, $542,144 and $420,318  286,584  242,585  267,880

Intangible assets, net  280,455  271,533  284,439

Goodwill  435,667  431,101  434,782

Other assets  258,536  463,935  262,670

Total assets  $ 3,762,888  $ 3,594,277  $ 4,537,779

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       
LIABILITIES:       

Customer banking deposits  $ 757,929  $ 648,378  $ 936,464

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabili2es  443,065  414,604  523,921

Accrued salaries, wages and payroll taxes  32,926  35,234  134,970

Accrued income taxes  215,834  278,539  416,128

Current por2on of long-term debt  730  600,642  722

Total current liabili2es  1,450,484  1,977,397  2,012,205

Long-term debt  905,902  408,992  905,958

Other noncurrent liabili2es  301,187  362,215  356,069

Total liabili2es  2,657,573  2,748,604  3,274,232

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES    
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:       

Common stock, no par, stated value $.01 per share, 800,000,000 shares authorized, shares
issued of 316,628,110  3,166  3,166  3,166
Conver2ble preferred stock, no par, stated value $0.01 per share, 500,000 shares
authorized  —  —  —

Addi2onal paid-in capital  753,209  744,616  752,483

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (257)  7,350  10,550

Retained earnings  1,163,651  955,873  1,333,445

Less treasury shares, at cost  (814,454)  (865,332)  (836,097)

Total stockholders’ equity  1,105,315  845,673  1,263,547

Total liabili2es and stockholders’ equity  $ 3,762,888  $ 3,594,277  $ 4,537,779

       
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  

(unaudited, in 000s, except 
per share amounts) 

Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

     
REVENUES:     

Service revenues  $ 107,800  $ 79,896

Product and other revenues  8,198  6,720

Interest income  11,197  9,873

  127,195  96,489

OPERATING EXPENSES:     
Cost of revenues:     

Compensa2on and benefits  46,312  39,585

Occupancy and equipment  78,736  79,951

Provision for bad debt and loan losses  11,491  4,645

Interest  14,446  22,077

Deprecia2on and amor2za2on of property and equipment  16,804  14,534

Other  42,264  32,632

  210,053  193,424

Selling, general and administra2ve  96,697  75,478

  306,750  268,902

Opera2ng loss  (179,555)  (172,413)
Other income (expense), net  (4,939)  3,144

Loss from con2nuing opera2ons before income tax benefit  (184,494)  (169,269)
Income tax benefit  (71,224)  (63,619)

Net loss from con2nuing opera2ons  (113,270)  (105,650)
Net loss from discon2nued opera2ons  (1,917)  (1,791)

NET LOSS  $ (115,187)  $ (107,441)

     
BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE:     

Con2nuing opera2ons  $ (0.42)  $ (0.38)
Discon2nued opera2ons  —  (0.01)

Consolidated  $ (0.42)  $ (0.39)

     
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE  $ 0.20  $ 0.20

     
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS):     

Net loss  $ (115,187)  $ (107,441)
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securi2es, net of taxes:     

Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during the period, 
net of taxes (benefit) of ($5,065) and $152  (7,715)  170

Reclassifica2on adjustment for gains included in income, 
net of taxes  —  —

Change in foreign currency transla2on adjustments  (3,092)  (4,965)

Other comprehensive loss  (10,807)  (4,795)

Comprehensive loss  $ (125,994)  $ (112,236)

     
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  (unaudited, in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

     
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES  $ (318,742)  $ (373,140)

     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:     

Purchases of available-for-sale securi2es  (45,158)  (28,990)
Maturi2es of and payments received on available-for-sale securi2es  32,061  21,129

Principal payments on mortgage loans held for investment, net  11,707  12,652

Purchases of property and equipment  (34,386)  (13,273)
Franchise loans:     

Loans funded  (6,657)  (5,062)
Payments received  7,164  5,154

Other, net  6,179  1,675

Net cash used in inves2ng ac2vi2es  (29,090)  (6,715)

     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:     

Repayments of long-term debt  —  (30,831)
Customer banking deposits, net  (179,364)  (179,519)
Dividends paid  (54,550)  (54,201)
Repurchase of common stock, including shares surrendered  (4,201)  (339,088)
Proceeds from exercise of stock op2ons  21,953  468

Other, net  (13,093)  (19,939)

Net cash used in financing ac2vi2es  (229,255)  (623,110)

     
Effects of exchange rates on cash  (6,621)  (1,498)
     
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (583,708)  (1,004,463)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period  1,747,584  1,944,334

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period  $ 1,163,876  $ 939,871

     
SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW DATA:     

Income taxes paid, net of refunds received  $ 106,467  $ 19,747

Interest paid on borrowings  15,883  13,494

Interest paid on deposits  640  1,336

Transfers of foreclosed loans to other assets  2,100  3,074

Accrued addi2ons to property and equipment  8,048  7,107

Transfer of mortgage loans held for investment to held for sale  7,608  —
     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

H&R Block Q1 FY2014 Form 10-Q 3



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS                  (unaudited)

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presenta/on - The consolidated balance sheets as of July 31, 2013 and 2012, the consolidated statements of opera2ons and
comprehensive income (loss) for the three months ended July 31, 2013 and  2012,  and the condensed consolidated statements of
cash flows for the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012 have been prepared by the Company, without audit. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly the financial posi2on,
results of opera2ons and cash flows at July 31, 2013 a n d  2012 and for al l  periods presented have been made. See note 14 for
discussion of our presenta2on of discon2nued opera2ons.

“H&R Block,” “the Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” are used interchangeably to refer to H&R Block, Inc. or to H&R Block, Inc. and its
subsidiaries, as appropriate to the context.

Certain informa2on and footnote disclosures normally included in financial  statements prepared in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accoun2ng principles have been condensed or omi>ed. These consolidated financial statements should be
read in conjunc2on with the financial statements and notes thereto included in our April 30, 2013 Annual Report to Shareholders on
Form 10-K. All amounts presented herein as of April 30, 2013 or for the year then ended, are derived from our April 30, 2013 Annual
Report to Shareholders on Form 10-K.

Management Es/mates - The prepara2on of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accoun2ng principles
requires  management to  make es2mates  and assump2ons that  affect  the reported amounts  of  assets  and l iabi l i2es  and
disclosure of con2ngent assets and liabili2es at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the repor2ng periods. Significant es2mates, assump2ons and judgments are applied in the determina2on of
con2ngent losses ar is ing from our discon2nued mortgage business,  con2ngent losses associated with pending claims and
li2ga2on, allowance for loan losses, valua2on allowances based on future taxable income, reserves for uncertain tax posi2ons
and related ma>ers. Es2mates have been prepared on the basis of the most current and best informa2on available as of each
balance sheet date. As such, actual results could differ materially from those es2mates.

Seasonality of Business - Our opera2ng revenues are seasonal in nature with peak revenues occurring in the months of January
through April. Therefore, results for interim periods are not indica2ve of results to be expected for the full year.

Recently Issued or Newly Adopted Accoun/ng Standards - In February 2013, the Financial Accoun2ng Standards Board issued
guidance which expands disclosure requirements for other comprehensive income. The guidance requires the repor2ng of the
effect of the reclassifica2on of items out of accumulated other comprehensive income on each affected net income line item. The
guidance is effec2ve for interim and annual periods beginning on or aRer December 15, 2012 and is to be applied prospec2vely.
This guidance, which we adopted as of May 1, 2013, did not have a material impact on our financial statements, as we had no
reclassifica2ons of items out of accumulated other comprehensive income for the first quarter of fiscal 2014.

NOTE 2: H&R BLOCK BANK

On July 11, 2013, H&R Block Bank (HRB Bank) and Block Financial LLC (Block Financial) entered into a defini2ve Purchase and
Assump2on Agreement (P&A Agreement) with Republic Bank & Trust Company (Republic Bank). Pursuant to the P&A Agreement, HRB
Bank will, among other ma>ers, transfer all of its deposit liabili2es, ( $759.7 million if the closing were effec2ve July 31, 2013)  to
Republic Bank with a cash payment of approximately the same amount, subject to several condi2ons, including the finaliza2on of
various opera2ng agreements and regulatory approval (P&A Transac2on). If the respec2ve par2es receive regulatory approval on or
before September 30, 2013, this transac2on will have a closing date of not later than November 15, 2013. If regulatory approval is
received aRer September 30, 2013 but on or before March 31, 2014, this transac2on will have a closing date between April 30, 2014
and June 18, 2014. Simultaneously with any closing, HRB Bank will convert into a na2onal banking associa2on, merge with and into
Block Financial, surrender its bank charter, and cease to operate as a separate legal en2ty. At that 2me, H&R Block, Inc. and Block
Financial would no longer be savings and loan holding companies subject to regulatory oversight of the Federal Reserve or related
regulatory capital requirements. Prior to entering into this agreement, Republic Bank filed
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an applica2on with its regulators to convert to a na2onal bank charter which is being processed concurrently with the review of the
transac2on between H&R Block and Republic Bank. We have received indica2ons that addi2onal 2me is needed for Republic
Bank’s regulators to process their applica2ons. We, therefore, expect to con2nue offering our financial products and services to our
clients through HRB Bank for the 2014 tax season.

We plan to con2nue to offer financial products and services to our clients subsequent to HRB Bank ceasing opera2ons and we
are currently nego2a2ng addi2onal agreements with Republic Bank, including a Joint Marke2ng Master Services Agreement (MSA
Agreement) and a related Receivables Par2cipa2on Agreement (RPA Agreement), under which Republic Bank will serve as the bank
offering H&R Block-branded financial  services and products,  and we wil l  service and administer such financial  services and
products for Republic Bank.

We incurred certain fees for professional advisors and accrued employee termina2on benefits in connec2on with this pending
transac2on. Those costs totaled $7.5 million for the quarter ended July 31, 2013.

The obliga2ons of the par2es to complete the P&A Transac2on are subject to the fulfillment of numerous condi2ons including
regulatory approval and agreement upon, execu2on and delivery of the MSA Agreement and the RPA Agreement. We cannot be
certain when or if these condi2ons will be sa2sfied, and therefore we cannot predict the 2ming or the likelihood of comple2ng the
P&A Transac2on and ceasing to be regulated as an SLHC.

NOTE 3: LOSS PER SHARE AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Basic and diluted loss per share is computed using the two-class method. The two-class method is an earnings alloca2on formula
that determines net income per share for each class of common stock and par2cipa2ng security according to dividends declared
and par2cipa2on rights in undistributed earnings. Per share amounts are computed by dividing net income from con2nuing
opera2ons a>ributable to common shareholders by the weighted average shares outstanding during each period. The dilu2ve
effect of poten2al common shares is included in diluted earnings per share except in those periods with a loss from con2nuing
opera2ons.  Di luted earnings per share excludes the impact of  shares of  common stock issuable upon the lapse of  certain
restric2ons or the exercise of op2ons to purchase 6.3 million shares and 9.2 million shares for the three months ended July 31, 2013
and 2012, respec2vely, as the effect would be an2dilu2ve due to the net loss from con2nuing opera2ons during those periods.

The computa2ons of basic and diluted earnings per share from con2nuing opera2ons are as follows:

(in 000s, except per share amounts) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Net loss from con2nuing opera2ons a>ributable to shareholders  $ (113,270)  $ (105,650)

Net loss allocated to par2cipa2ng securi2es  (62)  (73)

Net loss from con2nuing opera2ons a>ributable to common shareholders  $ (113,332)  $ (105,723)

     
Basic weighted average common shares  273,080  277,155

Poten2al dilu2ve shares  —  —

Dilu2ve weighted average common shares  273,080  277,155

     
Loss per share from con2nuing opera2ons a>ributable to common shareholders:     

Basic  $ (0.42)  $ (0.38)

Diluted  (0.42)  (0.38)

The weighted average shares outstanding for the three months ended July 31, 2013 decreased to 273.1 million from 277.2 million
for the three months ended July 31, 2012, primarily due to share repurchases completed during fiscal year 2013. During the three
months ended July 31, 2012, we purchased and immediately re2red 21.3 million shares of our common stock at a cost of $315.0
mil l ion.

During the three months ended July 31, 2013, we acquired 0.2 million shares of our common stock at an aggregate cost of $4.2
mil l ion. These shares represent shares swapped or surrendered to us in connec2on with the ves2ng or exercise of stock-based
awards. During the three months ended July 31, 2012, we acquired 0.1 million shares at an aggregate cost of $1.6 million for similar
purposes.
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During the three m o n t h s  e n d e d  July 31, 2013 a n d  2012,  w e  i s s u e d  1.4 mil l ion a n d  0.3 mil l ion shares  of  common stock ,
respec2vely, due to the ves2ng or exercise of stock-based awards.

During the three months ended July 31, 2013, we granted 0.8 million nonvested units under our stock-based compensa2on plans.
Nonvested units granted generally either vest over a three year period with one-third ves2ng each year or cliff vest at the end of a
three-year period. Stock-based compensa2on expense of our con2nuing opera2ons totaled $4.6 million a n d  $2.4 million for the
three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respec2vely. As of July 31, 2013, unrecognized compensa2on cost for op2ons totaled $2.7
mil l ion, and for nonvested shares and units totaled $39.2 million.

NOTE 4: RECEIVABLES

Short-term receivables consist of the following:

(in 000s) 
As of  July 31, 2013  July 31, 2012  April 30, 2013

Loans to franchisees  $ 64,041  $ 60,459  $ 65,413

Receivables for tax prepara2on and related fees  37,547  35,194  49,356

Canadian CashBack receivables  2,412  6,601  47,658

Emerald Advance lines of credit  22,649  24,215  23,218

Royal2es from franchisees  4,070  2,096  10,722

Credit cards  7,309  —  7,733

Other  35,887  31,269  53,134

  173,915  159,834  257,234

Allowance for doubMul accounts  (52,606)  (43,477)  (50,399)

  $ 121,309  $ 116,357  $ 206,835

       
The short-term por2on of Emerald Advance lines of credit (EAs), loans made to franchisees, CashBack balances and credit card

balances is included in receivables, while the long-term por2on is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.
These amounts are as follows:

(in 000s) 

  EAs  
Loans

to Franchisees  CashBack  Credit Cards

As of July 31, 2013:         
Short-term  $ 22,649  $ 64,041  $ 2,412  $ 7,309

Long-term  6,906  106,119  —  15,446

  $ 29,555  $ 170,160  $ 2,412  $ 22,755

As of July 31, 2012:         
Short-term  $ 24,215  $ 60,459  $ 6,601  $ —

Long-term  11,689  112,810  —  —

  $ 35,904  $ 173,269  $ 6,601  $ —

As of April 30, 2013:         
Short-term  $ 23,218  $ 65,413  $ 47,658  $ 7,733

Long-term  9,819  103,047  —  15,538

  $ 33,037  $ 168,460  $ 47,658  $ 23,271

         
EAs - We review the credit quality of our EA receivables based on pools, which are segregated by the year of origina2on, with

older years being deemed more unlikely to be repaid. These amounts as of July 31, 2013, by year of origina2on, are as follows:
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(in 000s) 
Credit Quality Indicator – Year of origina2on:   

2013  $ 8,657

2012  1,177

2011  2,083

2010 and prior  6,297

Revolving loans  11,341

  $ 29,555

   
As of July 31, 2013 and  2012 and  April 30, 2013, $26.8 million, $30.3 million and  $30.0 million of EAs were on non-accrual status

and classified as impaired, or more than 60 days past due, respec2vely.

Loans to Franchisees - Loans made to franchisees as of July 31, 2013 and 2012 and April 30, 2013, consisted of $124.2 million, $129.3
mil l ion and $121.2 million, respec2vely, in term loans made primarily to finance the purchase of franchises and $46.0 million, $44.0
mil l ion and $47.3 million, respec2vely, in revolving lines of credit primarily for the purpose of funding off-season working capital
needs.

A s  o f  July 31, 2013 a n d  2012 a n d  April 30, 2013,  loans with a principal  amount of  $2.5 million, $0.5 million a n d  $0.1 million,
respec2vely, were more than 30 days past due, however we had no loans to franchisees on non-accrual status.

Canadian CashBack Program - During the tax season our Canadian opera2ons advance refunds due to certain clients from the
Canada Revenue Agency for a fee (the CashBack program). Refunds advanced under the CashBack program are not subject to credit
approval, therefore the primary indicator of credit quality is the age of the receivable amount. CashBack amounts are generally
received within 60 days of filing the client's return. As of July 31, 2013 and 2012 and April 30, 2013, $0.8 million, $2.6 million and  $1.8
mil l ion of CashBack balances were more than 60 days old, respec2vely.

Credit Cards - We u2lize a four-2er underwri2ng approach at origina2on. Each of the four 2ers, with Tier 4 represen2ng the most
risk, is comprised of a combina2on of FICO scores ranging from 521 to 680, generic and custom credit bureau based risk scores and
client a>ributes. The criteria in the 2ers are not subsequently updated. The popula2on also includes certain clients which are “un-
scorable.” Although we u2lize the borrower's credit score for underwri2ng, we do not consider the credit score to be a primary
measure of credit quality, since it tends to be a lagging indicator. Credit card receivable balances as of July 31, 2013, by credit 2er,
are as follows:

(in 000s) 
Tier 1  $ 5,127

Tier 2  9,532

Tier 3  2,815

Tier 4  5,281

  $ 22,755

   
An aging of our credit card receivable balances as of July 31, 2013 is as follows :

(in 000s) 
Current  $ 13,740

Less than 30 days past due  1,778

30 - 59 days past due  1,262

60 - 89 days past due  1,312

90 days or more past due  4,663

  $ 22,755
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A s  o f  July 31, 2013 a n d  April 30, 2013,  a  tota l  o f  $1.1 million a n d  $2.1 million in unamor2zed deferred fees and costs were
capitalized related to our credit card balances, respec2vely.

Long-Term Note Receivable - We have a long-term note receivable in the amount of $54.0 million due from McGladrey & Pullen LLP
(M&P) related to the sale of RSM McGladrey, Inc. (RSM) in November 2011. This note is unsecured and bears interest at a rate of
8.0%, with all principal and accrued interest due in May 2017. As of July 31, 2013, there is no allowance recorded related to this
note.  We con2nue to monitor  publ ic ly  avai lable  informa2on re levant  to  the financia l  condi2on of  M&P to assess  future
collec2bility. This note is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet, with a total of $61.6 million, $56.9 million
and $60.4 million in principal and accrued interest recorded as of July 31, 2013 and 2012 and April 30, 2013, respec2vely.

Allowance for DoubIul Accounts - Ac2vity in the allowance for doubMul accounts for our short-term and long-term receivables for
the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

(in 000s) 

  EAs  
Loans

to Franchisees  CashBack  Credit Cards  All Other  Total

Balance as of May 1, 2013  $ 7,390  $ —  $ 2,769  $ 7,304  $ 40,240  $ 57,703

Provision  —  —  158  2,367  534  3,059

Charge-offs  —  —  (673)  (2,523)  (688)  (3,884)

Balance as of July 31, 2013  $ 7,390  $ —  $ 2,254  $ 7,148  $ 40,086  $ 56,878

             
Balance as of May 1, 2012  $ 6,200  $ —  $ 2,279  $ —  $ 36,110  $ 44,589

Provision  —  —  225  —  72  297

Charge-offs  —  —  (972)  —  (437)  (1,409)

Balance as of July 31, 2012  $ 6,200  $ —  $ 1,532  $ —  $ 35,745  $ 43,477

             
There were no changes to our methodology related to the calcula2on of our allowance for doubMul accounts during fiscal year

2014.

NOTE 5: MORTGAGE LOANS HELD FOR INVESTMENT AND RELATED ASSETS

The composi2on of our mortgage loan porMolio is as follows:

(dollars in 000s) 
As of  July 31, 2013  July 31, 2012  April 30, 2013

  Amount  % of Total  Amount  % of Total  Amount  % of Total

Adjustable-rate loans  $ 174,481  54%  $ 222,474  55%  $ 191,093  55%

Fixed-rate loans  147,973  46%  183,196  45%  159,142  45%

  322,454  100%  405,670  100%  350,235  100%

Unamor2zed deferred fees and costs  2,741    3,274    2,868   
Less: Allowance for loan losses  (15,514)    (22,185)    (14,314)   
  $ 309,681    $ 386,759    $ 338,789   
             

Our loan loss allowance as a percent of mortgage loans was 4.8% as  of  July 31, 2013, compared to 5.5% as  of  July 31, 2012 and
4.1% as of April 30, 2013.
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Ac2vity in the allowance for loan losses for the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

(in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Balance at beginning of the period  $ 14,314  $ 26,540

Provision  7,603  4,000

Recoveries  767  1,186

Charge-offs  (7,170)  (9,541)

Balance at end of the period  $ 15,514  $ 22,185

     
As of July 31, 2013, we had $7.6 million of mortgage loans which were transferred into the held-for-sale porMolio from the held-

for-investment porMolio. At the 2me of the transfer, the amount by which cost exceeded fair value totaled $2.9 million. This write-
down to fair value was recorded as a provision during the three months ended July 31, 2013 and subsequently charged-off.

When determining our allowance for loan losses, we evaluate loans less than 60 days past due on a pooled basis, while loans
we consider impaired, including those loans more than 60 days past due or modified as TDRs, are evaluated individually. The
balance of these loans and the related allowance is as follows:

(in 000s) 
As of  July 31, 2013  July 31, 2012  April 30, 2013

  
PorMolio 

Balance  
Related 

Allowance  
PorMolio 

Balance  
Related 

Allowance  
PorMolio 

Balance  
Related 

Allowance

Pooled (less than 60 days past due)  $ 186,082  $ 5,734  $ 238,999  $ 7,701  $ 207,319  $ 5,628

Impaired:             
Individually (TDRs)  50,136  4,866  67,587  6,931  55,061  4,924

Individually (60 days or more past due)  86,236  4,914  99,084  7,553  87,855  3,762

  $ 322,454  $ 15,514  $ 405,670  $ 22,185  $ 350,235  $ 14,314

             
Detail of our mortgage loans held for investment and the related allowance as of July 31, 2013 is as follows:

(dollars in 000s) 
  Outstanding

Principal Balance

 Loan Loss Allowance  % 30+ Days
Past Due   Amount  % of Principal  

Purchased from SCC  $ 183,551  $ 11,912  6.5%  32.7%

All other  138,903  3,602  2.6%  9.2%

  $ 322,454  $ 15,514  4.8%  22.6%
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Credit quality indicators as of July 31, 2013 include the following:

(in 000s) 
Credit Quality Indicators  Purchased from SCC  All Other  Total PorMolio

Occupancy status:       
Owner occupied  $ 134,582  $ 88,841  $ 223,423

Non-owner occupied  48,969  50,062  99,031

  $ 183,551  $ 138,903  $ 322,454

Documenta2on level:       
Full documenta2on  $ 60,826  $ 101,226  $ 162,052

Limited documenta2on  6,069  14,132  20,201

Stated income  101,995  14,443  116,438

No documenta2on  14,661  9,102  23,763

  $ 183,551  $ 138,903  $ 322,454

Internal risk ra2ng:       
High  $ 56,475  $ —  $ 56,475

Medium  127,076  —  127,076

Low  —  138,903  138,903

  $ 183,551  $ 138,903  $ 322,454

       
Loans given our internal risk ra2ng of “high” were originated by Sand Canyon Corpora2on, formerly known as Op2on One

Mortgage Corpora2on, and its subsidiaries (SCC), and generally had no documenta2on or were based on stated income. Loans
given our internal risk ra2ng of “medium” were generally full documenta2on or based on stated income, with loan-to-value ra2os
at origina2on of more than 80%, and were made to borrowers with credit scores below 700 at origina2on. Loans given our internal
risk ra2ng of “low” were generally obtained from par2es other than SCC, with loan-to-value ra2os at origina2on of less than 80%
and were made to borrowers with credit scores greater than 700 at origina2on.

Our mortgage loans held for investment include concentra2ons of loans to borrowers in certain states, which may result in
increased exposure to loss as a result of changes in real estate values and underlying economic or market condi2ons related to a
par2cular geographical loca2on. Approximately 59% of our mortgage loan porMolio consists of loans to borrowers located in the
states of Florida, California, New York and Wisconsin.

Detail of the aging of the mortgage loans in our porMolio as of July 31, 2013 is as follows:

(in 000s) 

  
Less than 60

Days Past Due  
60 – 89 Days

Past Due  
90+ Days

Past Due(1 )  
Total

Past Due  Current  Total

Purchased from SCC  $ 11,890  $ 2,724  $ 61,237  $ 75,851  $ 107,700  $ 183,551

All other  5,266  —  12,311  17,577  121,326  138,903

  $ 17,156  $ 2,724  $ 73,548  $ 93,428  $ 229,026  $ 322,454

             
(1) We do not accrue interest on loans past due 90 days or more.
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Informa2on related to our non-accrual loans is as follows:

(in 000s) 
As of  July 31, 2013  July 31, 2012  April 30, 2013

Loans:       
Purchased from SCC  $ 68,740  $ 81,539  $ 70,327

Other  14,860  16,178  14,906

  83,600  97,717  85,233

TDRs:       
Purchased from SCC  3,247  3,398  3,719

Other  500  509  502

  3,747  3,907  4,221

Total non-accrual loans  $ 87,347  $ 101,624  $ 89,454

       
Informa2on related to impaired loans is as follows:

(in 000s) 

  
Balance

With Allowance  
Balance

With No Allowance  
Total

Impaired Loans  Related Allowance

As of July 31, 2013:         
Purchased from SCC  $ 33,088  $ 80,132  $ 113,220  $ 7,396

Other  6,603  16,549  23,152  2,384

  $ 39,691  $ 96,681  $ 136,372  $ 9,780

As of July 31, 2012:         
Purchased from SCC  $ 45,719  $ 94,184  $ 139,903  $ 11,653

Other  8,199  18,569  26,768  2,831

  $ 53,918  $ 112,753  $ 166,671  $ 14,484

As of April 30, 2013:         
Purchased from SCC  $ 33,791  $ 84,592  $ 118,383  $ 6,573

Other  7,601  16,932  24,533  2,113

  $ 41,392  $ 101,524  $ 142,916  $ 8,686

         
Informa2on related to the allowance for impaired loans is as follows:

(in 000s) 
As of  July 31, 2013  July 31, 2012  April 30, 2013

Por2on of total allowance for loan losses allocated to impaired loans and TDR loans:       
Based on collateral value method  $ 4,914  $ 7,553  $ 3,762

Based on discounted cash flow method  4,866  6,931  4,924

  $ 9,780  $ 14,484  $ 8,686
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Informa2on related to ac2vi2es of our non-performing assets is as follows:

(in 000s) 
As of  July 31, 2013  July 31, 2012  April 30, 2013

Average impaired loans:       
Purchased from SCC  $ 130,287  $ 147,555  $ 133,936

All other  25,328  26,841  25,425

  $ 155,615  $ 174,396  $ 159,361

Interest income on impaired loans:       
Purchased from SCC  $ 848  $ 1,011  $ 3,825

All other  73  82  305

  $ 921  $ 1,093  $ 4,130

Interest income on impaired loans recognized on a cash basis on non-accrual status:       
Purchased from SCC  $ 820  $ 994  $ 3,746

All other  73  73  279

  $ 893  $ 1,067  $ 4,025

       
Ac2vity related to our real estate owned (REO) is as follows:

(in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Balance, beginning of the period  $ 13,968  $ 14,972

Addi2ons  2,100  3,074

Sales  (1,664)  (1,801)

Impairments  (487)  (788)

Balance, end of the period  $ 13,917  $ 15,457
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NOTE 6: INVESTMENTS

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE – The amor2zed cost and fair value of securi2es classified as available-for-sale (AFS) are summarized below:

(in 000s) 

  
Amor2zed

Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Gains  

Gross
Unrealized

Losses (1 )  Fair Value

As of July 31, 2013:         
Long-term:         

Mortgage-backed securi2es  $ 489,401  $ 3,825  $ (10,623)  $ 482,603

Municipal bonds  4,164  266  —  4,430

  $ 493,565  $ 4,091  $ (10,623)  $ 487,033

As of July 31, 2012:         
Short-term:         

Municipal bonds  $ 1,006  $ 20  $ —  $ 1,026
Long-term:         

Mortgage-backed securi2es  370,318  5,898  (78)  376,138
Municipal bonds  4,221  406  —  4,627

  374,539  6,304  (78)  380,765

  $ 375,545  $ 6,324  $ (78)  $ 381,791

As of April 30, 2013   
Long-term:         

Mortgage-backed securi2es  $ 476,450  $ 6,592  $ (664)  $ 482,378
Municipal bonds  4,178  320  —  4,498

  $ 480,628  $ 6,912  $ (664)  $ 486,876

         
(1) As of July 31, 2013 and April 30, 2013, we had no securi2es that had been in a con2nuous loss posi2on for more than twelve months. As of July 31, 2012, mortgage-backed

securi2es with a cost of $7.9 million and gross unrealized losses of $5 thousand had been in a con2nuous loss posi2on for more than twelve months.

We did not sell  any AFS securi2es during the three months ended July 31, 2013 a n d  2012.  We did not record any other-than-
temporary impairments of AFS securi2es during the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012.

Contractual maturi2es of AFS debt securi2es at July 31, 2013, occur at varying dates over the next 30 years, and are set forth in the
table below.

(in 000s) 
  Amor2zed Cost  Fair Value

Maturing in:     
Two to five years  $ 4,164  $ 4,430

Beyond  489,401  482,603

  $ 493,565  $ 487,033
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NOTE 7: GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill of our Tax Services segment for the three months ended July 31, 2013 and  2012 are  as
follows:

(in 000s) 

  Goodwill  
Accumulated

Impairment Losses  Net

Balances as of April 30, 2013  $ 467,079  $ (32,297)  $ 434,782

Acquisi2ons  2,155  —  2,155

Disposals and foreign currency changes, net  (1,270)  —  (1,270)

Impairments  —  —  —

Balances as of July 31, 2013  $ 467,964  $ (32,297)  $ 435,667

       
Balances as of April 30, 2012  $ 459,863  $ (32,297)  $ 427,566

Acquisi2ons  3,651  —  3,651

Disposals and foreign currency changes, net  (116)  —  (116)

Impairments  —  —  —

Balances as of July 31, 2012  $ 463,398  $ (32,297)  $ 431,101

       
We test goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if events occur or circumstances change which would, more likely

than not, reduce the fair value of a repor2ng unit below its carrying value.
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Components of the intangible assets of our Tax Services segment are as follows:

(in 000s) 

  

Gross
Carrying
Amount  

Accumulated
Amor2za2on  Net

As of July 31, 2013:       
Reacquired franchise rights  $ 214,330  $ (19,235)  $ 195,095

Customer rela2onships  100,688  (51,007)  49,681

Internally-developed soRware  93,739  (74,572)  19,167

Noncompete agreements  23,024  (21,789)  1,235

Franchise agreements  19,201  (5,974)  13,227

Purchased technology  14,800  (12,750)  2,050

Trade name  300  (300)  —

  $ 466,082  $ (185,627)  $ 280,455

As of July 31, 2012:       
Reacquired franchise rights  $ 214,330  $ (15,113)  $ 199,217

Customer rela2onships  89,839  (48,298)  41,541

Internally-developed soRware  105,648  (94,240)  11,408

Noncompete agreements  22,225  (21,443)  782

Franchise agreements  19,201  (4,694)  14,507

Purchased technology  14,700  (11,080)  3,620

Trade name  1,300  (842)  458

  $ 467,243  $ (195,710)  $ 271,533

As of April 30, 2013       
Reacquired franchise rights  $ 214,330  $ (18,204)  $ 196,126

Customer rela2onships  100,719  (48,733)  51,986

Internally-developed soRware  91,745  (72,764)  18,981

Noncompete agreements  23,058  (21,728)  1,330

Franchise agreements  19,201  (5,654)  13,547

Purchased technology  14,800  (12,331)  2,469

Trade name  300  (300)  —

  $ 464,153  $ (179,714)  $ 284,439

       
Amor2za2on of intangible assets of con2nuing opera2ons for the three months ended July 31, 2013 and  2012 w a s  $6.1 million

and $6.0 million, respec2vely. Es2mated amor2za2on of intangible assets for fiscal years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 a n d  2018 i s  $23.2
mil l ion, $19.4 million, $16.0 million, $13.2 million and $12.2 million, respec2vely.

NOTE 8: FAIR VALUE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

We use the fol lowing c lassifica2on of  financial  instruments pursuant to the fair  value hierarchy methodologies for  assets
measured at fair value:

▪ Level 1 - inputs to the valua2on are quoted prices in an ac2ve market for iden2cal assets.

▪ Level 2 - inputs to the valua2on include quoted prices for similar assets in ac2ve markets u2lizing a third-party pricing service
to determine fair value.

▪ Level 3 - valua2on is based on significant inputs that are unobservable in the market and our own es2mates of assump2ons
that we believe market par2cipants would use in pricing the asset.

Financial instruments are presented in the tables that follow by recurring or nonrecurring measurement status. Recurring assets
are ini2ally measured at fair value and are required to be remeasured at fair value in the financial
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statements  at  each  repor2ng date .  Assets  measured on a  nonrecurr ing  bas is  are  assets  that ,  as  a  resu l t  of  an  event  or
circumstance, were required to be remeasured at fair value aRer ini2al recogni2on in the financial statements at some 2me during
the repor2ng period.

The following table presents the assets that were remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis during the three months ended
July 31, 2013 and 2012:

(dollars in 000s) 
  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Gains (losses)

As of July 31, 2013:           
Mortgage–backed securi2es  $ 482,603  $ —  $ 482,603  $ —  $ (6,798)

Municipal bonds  4,430  —  4,430  —  266

Mortgage loans held for sale  7,608  —  —  7,608  (2,916)

  $ 494,641  $ —  $ 487,033  $ 7,608  $ (9,448)

As a percentage of total assets  13.1%  —%  12.9%  0.2%   
           
As of July 31, 2012:           

Mortgage–backed securi2es  $ 376,138  $ —  $ 376,138  $ —  $ 5,820

Municipal bonds  5,653  —  5,653  —  426

  $ 381,791  $ —  $ 381,791  $ —  $ 6,246

As a percentage of total assets  10.6%  —%  10.6%  —%   
           

Our investments in mortgage-backed securi2es and municipal bonds are carried at fair value on a recurring basis with gains and
losses reported as a component of other comprehensive income, except for losses assessed to be other than temporary. These
include certain agency and agency-sponsored mortgage-backed securi2es and municipal bonds. Quoted market prices are not
available for these securi2es, as they are not ac2vely traded and have fewer observable transac2ons. As a result, we use third-
party pricing services to determine fair value and classify the securi2es as Level 2. The third-party pricing services' models are
based on market data and u2lize available trade, bid and other market informa2on for similar securi2es. The fair values provided
by the third-party pricing services are regularly reviewed by management. Annually, a sample of prices supplied by the third-party
pricing service is validated by comparison to prices obtained from other third party sources. There were no transfers of AFS
securi2es between hierarchy levels during the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012.

The fair value of our mortgage loans held for sale is determined using market pricing sources without adjustments and are
based on projected future cash flows of each individual  asset,  and loan characteris2cs including channel and performance
characteris2cs. These loans are classified as Level 3.
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The following table presents the assets that were remeasured at fair value on a non-recurring basis during the three months
ended July 31, 2013 and 2012:

(dollars in 000s) 
  Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Losses

As of July 31, 2013:           
REO  $ 14,752  $ —  $ —  $ 14,752  $ (353)
Impaired mortgage loans held for

investment  76,699  —  —  76,699  (1,390)

  $ 91,451  $ —  $ —  $ 91,451  $ (1,743)

As a percentage of total assets  2.4%  —  —  2.4%   
           
As of July 31, 2012:           

REO  $ 16,384  $ —  $ —  $ 16,384  $ (261)
Impaired mortgage loans held for

investment  93,666  —  —  93,666  (4,337)

  $ 110,050  $ —  $ —  $ 110,050  $ (4,598)

As a percentage of total assets  3.1%  —  —  3.1%   
           

The following methods were used to es2mate the fair value of each class of financial instrument above:

▪ Real estate owned -  REO includes foreclosed proper2es securing mortgage loans.  Foreclosed assets are recorded at
es2mated fair value, generally based on independent market prices or appraised values of the collateral, less costs to sell
upon foreclosure.  The assets  are remeasured quarterly  based on independent appraisals  or  broker pr ice opinions.
Subsequent holding period gains and losses arising from the sale of REO are reported when realized. Because our REO is
valued based on significant inputs that are unobservable in the market and our own es2mates of assump2ons that we
believe market par2cipants would use in pricing the asset, these assets are classified as Level 3.

▪ Impaired mortgage loans held for investment - The fair value of impaired mortgage loans held for investment is generally
based on the net present value of discounted cash flows for TDR loans or the appraised value of the underlying collateral
for all  other loans. Impaired and TDR loans are required to be evaluated at least annually, based on HRB Bank's Loan
Policy. Impaired loans are typically remeasured every nine months, while TDRs are evaluated quarterly. These loans are
classified as Level 3.

We have  estab l i shed  var ious  contro l s  and  procedures  to  ensure  that  the  unobservab le  inputs  used  in  the  fa i r  va lue
measurement of these instruments are appropriate. Appraisals are obtained from cer2fied appraisers and reviewed internally by
HRB Bank’s asset management group. The inputs and assump2ons used in our discounted cash flow model for TDRs are reviewed
and approved by HRB Bank's management team each 2me the balances are remeasured. Significant changes in fair value from the
previous measurement are presented to HRB Bank management for approval. There were no changes to the unobservable inputs
used in determining the fair values of our Level 3 financial assets.

The following table presents the quan2ta2ve informa2on about our Level 3 fair value measurements, where the significant
unobservable inputs were developed by HRB Bank's management team:

(in 000s)

  
Fair Value at

July 31, 2013  
Valua2on

Technique  Unobservable Input  
Range

(Weighted Average)

REO
 

$ 13,917
 

Third party
pricing  Cost to list/sell Loss severity  

5% – 57%(5%)
0% – 100%(48%)

Impaired mortgage loans held for investment – non
TDRs

 

$ 81,322

 

Collateral-
based

 

Cost to list/sell
Time to sell (months)

Collateral deprecia2on
Loss severity  

0% – 134%(8%)
24(24)

(120%) – 100%(46%)
0% – 100%(59%)

Impaired mortgage loans held for investment – TDRs
 

$ 45,270
 

Discounted
cash flow  

Aged default performance
Loss severity  

29% – 51%(39%)
0% – 21%(5%)
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ESTIMATED FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and es2mated fair values of our financial instruments are as follows:

(in 000s) 
As of  July 31, 2013  July 31, 2012  April 30, 2013

  
Carrying
Amount  

Es2mated
Fair Value  

Carrying
Amount  

Es2mated
Fair Value  

Carrying
Amount  

Es2mated
Fair Value

Assets:             
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,163,876  $ 1,163,876  $ 939,871  $ 939,871  $ 1,747,584  $ 1,747,584

Cash and cash equivalents – restricted  55,477  55,477  43,109  43,109  117,837  117,837

Receivables, net – short–term  121,309  124,218  116,357  116,357  206,835  206,810

Mortgage loans held for sale  7,608  7,608  —  —  —  —

Mortgage loans held for investment, net  309,681  194,882  386,759  238,658  338,789  210,858

Investments in AFS securi2es  487,033  487,033  381,791  381,791  486,876  486,876

Receivables, net – long–term  127,855  132,589  128,930  128,930  125,048  134,283

Note receivable (including interest)  61,561  68,973  56,917  62,748  60,352  69,472

Liabili2es:             
Deposits  759,745  760,449  653,681  653,382  938,331  934,019

Long–term borrowings  906,632  931,300  1,009,634  1,037,169  906,680  964,630

Con2ngent considera2on payments  10,766  10,766  7,090  7,090  11,277  11,277

             
Fair value es2mates, methods and assump2ons are set forth below. The fair value was not es2mated for assets and liabili2es

that are not considered financial instruments.

▪ Cash and cash equivalents, including restricted - Fair value approximates the carrying amount (Level 1).

▪ Receivables - short-term - For short-term balances with the excep2on of credit card receivables, the carrying values reported
in the balance sheet approximate fair market value due to the rela2ve short-term nature of the respec2ve instruments
(Level 1). The fair value of credit card balances is determined using market pricing sources based on projected future cash
flows of the pooled assets and performance characteris2cs (Level 3).

▪ Mortgage loans held for sale and mortgage loans held for investment, net - The fair value of mortgage loans is determined
using market pricing sources based on projected future cash flows of each individual asset,  and loan characteris2cs
including channel and performance characteris2cs (Level 3).

▪ Investments in available-for-sale securi2es - We use a third-party pricing service to determine fair value. The service's
pricing model is based on market data and u2lizes available trade, bid and other market informa2on for similar securi2es
(Level 2).

▪ Receivables - long-term - The carrying values for the long-term por2on of loans to franchisees approximate fair market
value due to the variable interest rates (Level 1).  Long-term EA receivables are carried at net realizable value which
approximates fair value (Level 3). Net realizable value is determined based on historical collec2on rates. The fair value of
credit card balances is determined using market pricing sources based on projected future cash flows of the pooled assets
and performance characteris2cs (Level 3).

▪ Note receivable - The fair value of the long-term note receivable from M&P assumes no prepayment and is determined
using market pricing sources for similar instruments based on projected future cash flows (Level 3).

▪ Deposits - The fair value of deposits with no stated maturity such as non-interest-bearing demand deposits, checking,
money market and savings accounts is equal to the amount payable on demand (Level 1). The fair value of IRAs and other
2me deposits is es2mated by discoun2ng the future cash flows using the rates currently offered by HRB Bank for products
with similar remaining maturi2es (Level 3).
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▪ Long-term debt - The fair value of borrowings is based on rates currently available to us for obliga2ons with similar terms
and maturi2es, including current market yields on our Senior Notes (Level 3).

▪ Con2ngent considera2on payments - Fair value approximates the carrying amount (Level 3).

NOTE 9: INCOME TAXES

We file a consolidated federal income tax return in the United States with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and file tax returns in
various state and foreign jurisdic2ons. Tax returns are typically examined and se>led at either the exam level or through an appeal
process.

Subsequent to the end of the quarter, we received no2fica2on from the IRS that the required reviews for tax years 2008-2010 as
well as the remaining refund claims rela2ng to 1999-2007 have been approved at the required administra2ve levels. We an2cipate
an insignificant impact to tax expense as a result of the se>lement, however; we expect to receive cash of approximately $100
mil l ion.

We had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $145.3 million, $208.0 million a n d  $146.4 million a s  o f  July 31, 2013 a n d  2012 a n d
April 30, 2013, respec2vely. The gross unrecognized tax benefits decreased $1.1 million and increased $1.6 million during the three
months ended July 31, 2013 a n d  2012,  respec2vely. We believe it  is  reasonably possible that the balance of unrecognized tax
benefits could decrease by approximately $33 million before July 31, 2014. Approximately $15.5 million of the an2cipated decrease
is due to the se>lement of the IRS examina2on of our 2008 through 2010 tax returns while the remaining decrease is due to the
expira2on of statutes of limita2ons and an2cipated se>lements of state audit issues. This amount is included in accrued income
taxes in our consolidated balance sheet. The remaining amount is classified as long-term and is included in other noncurrent
liabili2es in the consolidated balance sheet.

Our effec2ve tax rate for con2nuing opera2ons was 38.6% a n d  37.6% f o r  t h e  three m o n t h s  e n d e d  July 31, 2013 a n d  2012,
respec2vely. Due to losses in both periods, a discrete tax benefit in either period increases the tax rate while an item of discrete
tax expense decreases the tax rate. During the current quarter, a net discrete tax expense of $0.2 million was recorded compared to
a net discrete tax benefit of $2.7 million in the same period of the prior year. This net difference in discrete tax expense was related
to differences in income tax reserves recorded of $4.4 million offset by a decrease in state interest receivable of $1.9 million. The
1.0% increase in our tax rate over the prior year was due to the change in discrete tax items which was par2ally offset by a decrease
in the base tax rate.

NOTE 10: INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE

The following table shows the components of interest income and expense:

(in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Interest income:     
Mortgage loans, net  $ 3,542  $ 4,417

Loans to franchisees  2,289  2,355

AFS securi2es  2,341  1,639

Credit cards  1,228  —

Other  1,797  1,462

  $ 11,197  $ 9,873

Interest expense:     
Borrowings  $ 13,803  $ 20,754

Deposits  643  1,323

  $ 14,446  $ 22,077
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NOTE 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Changes in deferred revenue balances related to our Peace of Mind (POM) program, the current por2on of which is included in
accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabili2es and the long-term por2on of which is included in other noncurrent
liabili2es in the consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:

(in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Balance, beginning of the period  $ 146,286  $ 141,080

Amounts deferred for new guarantees issued  737  573

Revenue recognized on previous deferrals  (27,826)  (26,983)

Balance, end of the period  $ 119,197  $ 114,670

     
In addi2on to amounts accrued for our POM guarantee, we had accrued $15.7 million, $15.5 million and $18.0 million as of July 31,

2013 and 2012 and April 30, 2013, respec2vely, related to es2mated losses under our standard guarantee which is included with our
standard tax prepara2on services. The current por2on of this liability is included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
current liabili2es and the long-term por2on is included in other noncurrent liabili2es in the consolidated balance sheets.

We have accrued es2mated con2ngent considera2on payments totaling $10.8 million, $7.1 million and $11.3 million as of  July 31,
2013 a n d  2012 a n d  April 30, 2013, respec2vely, related to recent acquisi2ons, with the short-term amount recorded in accounts
payable, accrued expenses and deposits and the long-term por2on included in other noncurrent liabili2es. Es2mates of con2ngent
payments are typically based on expected financial performance of the acquired business and economic condi2ons at the 2me of
acquisi2on. Should actual results differ materially from our assump2ons, future payments made will differ from the above es2mate
and any differences will be recorded in our results from con2nuing opera2ons.

We have contractual commitments to fund certain franchisees reques2ng revolving lines of credit. Our total obliga2on under
these lines of credit was $91.5 million at July 31, 2013, and net of amounts drawn and outstanding, our remaining commitment to
fund totaled $45.5 million.

We have contractual commitments to fund our credit card customers on their approved revolving l ines of credit.  Our total
obliga2on under the credit card agreements was $27.4 million a t  July 31, 2013, and net of amounts outstanding, our remaining
commitment to fund totaled $3.5 million.

We maintain compensa2ng balances with certain financial ins2tu2ons that are creditors in our $1.5 billion unsecured commi>ed
line of credit governed by a Credit and Guarantee Agreement (2012 CLOC), which are not legally restricted as to withdrawal. These
balances totaled $210.0 million as of July 31, 2013.

We may enter into contracts that include embedded indemnifica2ons that have characteris2cs similar to guarantees. Typically,
these indemnifica2ons do not provide a stated maximum exposure and the terms of the indemni2es may vary, in many cases
limited only by the applicable statute of l imita2ons. Accruals for these obliga2ons have been established when appropriate.
Historically, payments made under these types of contractual arrangements have not been material. See notes 12 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements for addi2onal discussion regarding guarantees and indemnifica2ons.

We evaluated our financial interests in variable interest en22es (VIEs) as of July 31, 2013 and determined that there have been
no significant changes related to those financial interests.

NOTE 12: LITIGATION AND RELATED CONTINGENCIES

We are a defendant in a large number of l i2ga2on ma>ers,  aris ing both in the ordinary course of business and otherwise,
including as described below. The ma>ers described below are not all  of the lawsuits to which we are subject. In some of the
ma>ers, very large or indeterminate amounts, including puni2ve damages, are sought. U.S. jurisdic2ons permit considerable
varia2on in the asser2on of monetary damages or other relief. Jurisdic2ons may permit claimants not to specify the monetary
damages sought or may permit claimants to state only that the amount sought is sufficient to invoke the jurisdic2on of the court. In
addi2on, jurisdic2ons may permit plain2ffs to allege monetary damages in amounts well exceeding reasonably possible verdicts
in the jurisdic2on for similar ma>ers. We believe that the
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monetary relief which may be specified in a lawsuit or claim bears li>le relevance to its merits or disposi2on value due to this
variability in pleadings and our experience in li2ga2ng or resolving through se>lement numerous claims over an extended period
of 2me.

The outcome of a li2ga2on ma>er and the amount or range of poten2al loss at par2cular points in 2me may be difficult to
ascertain. Among other things, uncertain2es can include how fact finders will evaluate documentary evidence and the credibility
and effec2veness of witness tes2mony, and how trial and appellate courts will  apply the law. Disposi2on valua2ons are also
subject to the uncertainty of how opposing par2es and their counsel will themselves view the relevant evidence and applicable
law.

In addi2on to li2ga2on ma>ers, we are also subject to other claims and regulatory inves2ga2ons arising out of our business
ac2vi2es, including as described below.

We accrue liabili2es for li2ga2on and regulatory loss con2ngencies when it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably es2mated. Liabili2es have been accrued for a number of the ma>ers noted below. If a range
of loss is es2mated, and some amount within that range appears to be a be>er es2mate than any other amount within that range,
then that amount is accrued. If no amount within the range can be iden2fied as a be>er es2mate than any other amount, we accrue
the minimum amount in the range.

For such ma>ers where a loss is  bel ieved to be reasonably possible,  but not probable,  or the loss cannot be reasonably
es2mated, no accrual has been made. It is possible that li2ga2on and regulatory ma>ers could require us to pay damages or make
other expenditures or accrue liabili2es in amounts that could not be reasonably es2mated at July 31, 2013. While the poten2al
future liabili2es could be material in the par2cular quarterly or annual periods in which they are recorded, based on informa2on
currently known, we do not believe any such liabili2es are likely to have a material effect on our consolidated financial posi2on,
results of opera2ons and cash flows. As of July 31, 2013 and  2012 and  April 30, 2013, we accrued liabil i2es of $12.5 million, $44.4
mil l ion and  $11.9 million, respec2vely. The decline in the balance from the prior year is primarily due to payments made during
fiscal year 2013.

For some ma>ers where a liability has not been accrued, we are able to es2mate a reasonably possible range of loss. For those
ma>ers, and for ma>ers where a liability has been accrued, as of July 31, 2013, we es2mate the aggregate range of reasonably
possible losses in excess of amounts accrued to be approximately $0 to $56 million, of which approximately 52% relates to our
discon2nued opera2ons.

For other ma>ers, we are not currently able to es2mate the reasonably possible loss or range of loss. We are oRen unable to
es2mate the possible loss or range of loss un2l developments in such ma>ers have provided sufficient informa2on to support an
assessment of the range of possible loss, such as quan2fica2on of a damage demand from plain2ffs, discovery from other par2es
and inves2ga2on of factual al lega2ons, rulings by the court on mo2ons or appeals,  analysis by experts,  and the progress of
se>lement nego2a2ons. On a quarterly and annual basis, we review relevant informa2on with respect to li2ga2on and related
con2ngencies and update our accruals, disclosures and es2mates of reasonably possible losses or ranges of loss based on such
reviews.

L IT IGATION AND OTHER CLAIMS,  INCLUDING INDEMNIFICATION CLAIMS,  PERTAINING TO DISCONTINUED MORTGAGE
OPERATIONS – Although SCC ceased its mortgage loan origina2on ac2vi2es in December 2007 and sold its loan servicing business in
April 2008, SCC and the Company have been, remain, or may in the future be subject to regulatory inves2ga2ons, claims, including
indemnifica2on claims, and lawsuits pertaining to SCC's mortgage business ac2vi2es that occurred prior to such termina2on and
sale. These inves2ga2ons, claims and lawsuits include ac2ons by regulators, third party indemnitees including depositors and
underwriters, individual plain2ffs, and cases in which plain2ffs seek to represent a class of others alleged to be similarly situated.
Among other things, these inves2ga2ons, claims and lawsuits allege discriminatory or unfair and decep2ve loan origina2on and
servicing prac2ces, fraud and other common law torts, rights to indemnifica2on and viola2ons of securi2es laws, the Truth in
Lending Act (TILA), Equal Credit Opportunity Act and the Fair Housing Act. Given the impact of the financial crisis on the non-prime
mortgage environment, the aggregate number of these inves2ga2ons, claims and lawsuits has increased over 2me and is expected
to con2nue to remain elevated.  The amounts c laimed in these inves2ga2ons,  c la ims and lawsuits  are substan2al  in some
instances, and the ul2mate resul2ng liability is difficult to predict and thus in many cases cannot be reasonably es2mated. In the
event of unfavorable outcomes, the amounts that may be required to be paid in the discharge of liabili2es or se>lements could be
substan2al and could have a material impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows. Certain
of these ma>ers are described in more detail below.
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On December 9, 2009, a puta2ve class ac2on lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of
California against SCC and H&R Block, Inc. styled Jeanne Drake, et al. v. Op�on One Mortgage Corp., et al.  (Case No. SACV09-1450 CJC).
Plain2ffs allege breach of contract, promissory fraud, inten2onal interference with contractual rela2ons, wrongful withholding of
wages and unfair business prac2ces in connec2on with not paying severance benefits to employees when their employment
transi2oned to American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. (now known as Homeward Residen2al, Inc. (Homeward)) in connec2on with
the sale of certain assets and opera2ons of SCC. Plain2ffs seek to recover severance benefits of approximately $8 million, interest
and a>orney’s fees, in addi2on to penal2es and puni2ve damages on certain claims. On September 2, 2011, the court granted
summary judgment in favor of the defendants on al l  c laims. Plain2ffs filed an appeal,  which remains pending. We have not
concluded that a loss related to this ma>er is probable nor have we established a loss con2ngency related to this ma>er. We
believe SCC has meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intend to defend the case vigorously, but there can be no
assurances as to its outcome or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

On October 15, 2010, the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago (FHLB-Chicago) filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Cook County,
Illinois (Case No. 10CH45033) styled Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago v. Bank of America Funding Corpora�on, et al.  against mul2ple
defendants, including various SCC-related en22es, H&R Block, Inc. and other en22es, arising out of FHLB-Chicago’s purchase of
residen2al mortgage-backed securi2es (RMBSs). The plain2ff seeks rescission and damages under state securi2es law and for
common law negligent misrepresenta2on in connec2on with its purchase of two securi2es collateralized by loans originated and
securi2zed by SCC. These two securi2es had a total ini2al principal amount of approximately $50 million, of which approximately
$39 mil l ion remains  outstanding.  The pla in2ff agreed to voluntar i ly  d ismiss  H&R Block,  Inc.  f rom the suit .  The remaining
defendants, including SCC, filed mo2ons to dismiss, which the court denied. Defendants moved for leave to appeal and the circuit
court denied the mo2on. We have not concluded that a loss related to this ma>er is probable nor have we accrued a liability
related to this  ma>er.  We bel ieve SCC has meritor ious defenses to the c la ims in this  case and intends to defend the case
vigorously,  but there can be no assurances as to its outcome or its impact on our consolidated financial  posi2on, results of
opera2ons and cash flows.

On February 22, 2012, a lawsuit was filed by SCC against Homeward in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New
York, styled Sand Canyon Corpora�on v. American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc . (Index No. 650504/2012), alleging breach of contract and
breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in connec2on with the Coopera2on Agreement entered into with SCC
in connec2on with SCC’s sale of its mortgage loan servicing business to the defendant in 2008. SCC is seeking relief to, among other
things, require the defendant to provide loan files only by the method prescribed in applicable agreements. The court denied the
defendant's mo2on to dismiss and an appellate court affirmed. Discovery is proceeding.

On May 31, 2012, a lawsuit was filed by Homeward in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, against SCC
styled Homeward Residen�al, Inc. v. Sand Canyon Corpora�on (Index No. 651885/2012). SCC removed the case to the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York on June 28, 2012 (Case No. 12-cv-5067). Plain2ff, in its capacity as the master servicer for
Op2on One Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-2 and for the benefit of the trustee and the cer2ficate holders of such trust, asserts claims for
breach of contract, an2cipatory breach, indemnity and declaratory judgment in connec2on with alleged losses incurred as a result
of the breach of representa2ons and warran2es rela2ng to loans sold to the trust and representa2on and warran2es related to
SCC. Plain2ff seeks specific performance of alleged repurchase obliga2ons or damages to compensate the trust and its cer2ficate
holders for alleged actual and an2cipated losses, as well as a repurchase of all loans due to alleged misrepresenta2ons by SCC as
to itself and representa2ons given as to the loans' compliance with its underwri2ng standards and the value of underlying real
estate. SCC filed a mo2on to dismiss. Plain2ff thereaRer filed an amended complaint. SCC intends to file an addi2onal mo2on to
dismiss. We have not concluded that a loss related to this ma>er is probable, nor have we accrued a liability related to this ma>er.
We believe SCC has meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intends to defend the case vigorously, but there can be no
assurances as to its outcome or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

On September 28, 2012, a second lawsuit was filed by Homeward in the District Court for the Southern District of New York against
SCC styled Homeward Residen�al, Inc. v. Sand Canyon Corpora�on (Case No. 12-cv-7319). Plain2ff, in its capacity as the master servicer for
Op2on One Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-3 and for the benefit of the trustee and the cer2ficate holders of such trust, asserts claims for
breach of contract and indemnity in connec2on with losses allegedly incurred as a result of the breach of representa2ons and
warran2es rela2ng to 96 loans sold to the trust.
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Plain2ff seeks specific performance of alleged repurchase obliga2ons or damages to compensate the trust and its cer2ficate
holders for alleged actual and an2cipated losses. SCC filed a mo2on to dismiss. Plain2ff thereaRer filed an amended complaint.
SCC intends to file an addi2onal mo2on to dismiss. We have not concluded that a loss related to this ma>er is probable, nor have
we accrued a liability related to this ma>er. We believe SCC has meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intends to
defend the case vigorously, but there can be no assurances as to its outcome or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on,
results of opera2ons and cash flows.

On April 5, 2013, a third lawsuit was filed by Homeward in the District Court for the Southern District of New York against SCC. The
suit, styled Homeward Residen�al, Inc. v. Sand Canyon Corpora�on (Case No. 13-cv-2107), was filed as a related ma>er to the second
Homeward suit men2oned above. In this third lawsuit, Plain2ff, in its capacity as the master servicer for Op2on One Mortgage Loan
Trust 2007-4 and for the benefit of the trustee and the cer2ficate holders of such trust, asserts claims for breach of contract and
indemnity in connec2on with alleged losses incurred as a result of the breach of representa2ons and warran2es rela2ng to 159
loans sold to the trust. Plain2ff seeks specific performance of repurchase obliga2ons or damages to compensate the trust and its
cer2ficate holders for alleged actual and an2cipated losses. SCC filed a mo2on to dismiss, which remains pending. We have not
concluded that a loss related to this ma>er is probable, nor have we accrued a liability related to this ma>er. We believe SCC has
meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intends to defend the case vigorously, but there can be no assurances as to its
outcome or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

On March 29, 2013, MGRID, LLC filed a Summons with No2ce against Merrill Lynch and Sand Canyon Corpora2on ( MGRID LLC v. Merrill
Lynch Mortgage Lending Inc., 651140/2013, New York State Supreme Court (Manha>an)) seeking more than $309 million in damages for
alleged breaches of representa2ons and warran2es related to Merrill Lynch Mortgage Investors Trust Series 2007-HE-2. The Trust
contains more than 5,000 mortgage loans of which Sand Canyon originated approximately 28% of the original principal balance of
these loans. The No2ce alleges that Merrill Lynch and Sand Canyon breached representa2ons and warran2es made about certain
of the mortgage loans and that both have failed to repurchase loans that violated the representa2ons and warran2es. The No2ce
also names Ci2bank N.A., as trustee, for failure to bring an enforcement ac2on against Merrill  and Sand Canyon. We have not
concluded that a loss related to this ma>er is probable, nor have we accrued a liability related to this ma>er. We believe SCC has
meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intends to defend the case vigorously, but there can be no assurances as to its
outcome or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

Underwriters and depositors are, or have been, involved in mul2ple lawsuits related to securi2za2on transac2ons in which SCC
par2cipated. These lawsuits allege or alleged a variety of claims, including viola2ons of federal and state securi2es law and
common law fraud, based on alleged materially inaccurate or misleading disclosures. Based on informa2on currently available to
SCC, it believes that the 17 lawsuits in which SCC received no2ce of a claim for indemnifica2on involve original investments of
approximately $14 billion. The outstanding principal amount of these investments is approximately $4 billion. Because SCC is not
party to these lawsuits (with the excep2on of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago v. Bank of America Funding Corpora�on case
discussed above) and does not have control of this li2ga2on, SCC does not have precise informa2on about the amount of damages
or other remedies being asserted or the defenses to the claims in such lawsuits. Addi2onal lawsuits against the underwriters or
depositors may be filed in the future, and SCC may receive addi2onal no2ces of claims for indemnifica2on from underwriters or
depositors with respect to exis2ng or new lawsuits. We have not concluded that a loss related to any of these indemnifica2on
claims is probable, nor have we accrued a liability related to any of these claims. We believe SCC has meritorious defenses to
these indemnifica2on claims and intends to defend them vigorously, but there can be no assurance as to their outcome or their
impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

On April 3, 2012, the Nevada A>orney General issued a subpoena to SCC indica2ng it was conduc2ng an inves2ga2on concerning
“the alleged commission of a prac2ce declared to be unlawful under the Nevada Decep2ve Trade Prac2ces Act.” No complaint has
been filed to date. SCC plans to con2nue to cooperate with the Nevada A>orney General.

EMPLOYMENT-RELATED CLAIMS AND LITIGATION – On January 25, 2010, a wage and hour class ac2on lawsuit was filed against us in
the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri styled Barbara Petroski, et al. v. H&R Block Eastern Enterprises, Inc., et
al., (Case No. 10-00075-CV-W-DW). The plain2ffs generally allege failure to compensate tax professionals na2onwide for training
that is required to be eligible for rehire the following tax season, and seek compensatory damages, liquidated damages, statutory
penal2es, pre-judgment interest, a>orneys'
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fees and costs. A condi2onal class was cer2fied under the Fair Labor Standards Act in March 2011 (consis2ng of tax professionals
na2onwide who worked in company-owned offices and who were not compensated for such training on or aRer April 15, 2007). Two
classes were also cer2fied under state laws in California and New York (consis2ng of tax professionals who worked in company-
owned offices in California and New York and who were not compensated for such training on or aRer March 4, 2006 and on or aRer
March 4, 2004, respec2vely). We filed a mo2on to decer2fy the classes, along with a mo2on for summary judgment on all claims. On
April 8, 2013, the court granted summary judgment in our favor on all claims. The plain2ffs filed an appeal, which remains pending.
We have not concluded that a loss related to this ma>er is probable, nor have we accrued a loss con2ngency related to this ma>er.
We believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims in this ma>er and intend to defend them vigorously, but there can be no
assurances as to the outcome of the ma>er or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash
flows.

RAL AND RAC LITIGATION – A series of puta2ve class ac2on lawsuits were filed against us in various federal courts beginning on
November 17, 2011 concerning the RAL and RAC products. The plain2ffs generally al lege we engaged in unfair,  decep2ve or
fraudulent acts in viola2on of various state consumer protec2on laws by facilita2ng RALs that were accompanied by allegedly
inaccurate TILA disclosures, and by offering RACs without any TILA disclosures. Certain plain2ffs also allege viola2on of disclosure
requirements of various state statutes expressly governing RALs and provisions of those statutes prohibi2ng tax preparers from
charging or retaining certain fees. Collec2vely, the plain2ffs seek to represent clients who purchased RAL or RAC products in up to
forty-two states and the District of Columbia during 2meframes ranging from 2007 to the present. The plain2ffs seek equitable
relief, disgorgement of profits, compensatory and statutory damages, res2tu2on, civil penal2es, a>orneys' fees and costs. These
cases were consolidated by the Judicial Panel on Mul2district Li2ga2on into a single proceeding in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of Illinois for coordinated pretrial proceedings, styled IN RE: H&R Block Refund An�cipa�on Loan Li�ga�on
(MDL No. 2373). We filed a mo2on to compel arbitra2on, which remains pending. We have not concluded that a loss related to this
ma>er is probable, nor have we accrued a loss con2ngency related to this ma>er. We believe we have meritorious defenses to the
claims in these cases and intend to defend the cases vigorously, but there can be no assurances as to the outcome of these cases
or their impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

COMPLIANCE FEE LITIGATION – On April 16, 2012, a puta2ve class ac2on lawsuit was filed against us in the Circuit Court of Jackson
County, Missouri styled Manuel H. Lopez III v. H&R Block, Inc., et al. (Case # 1216CV12290) concerning a compliance fee charged to retail
tax clients in the 2011 and 2012 tax seasons. The plain2ff seeks to represent all Missouri ci2zens who were charged the compliance
fee, and asserts claims of viola2on of the Missouri Merchandising Prac2ces Act, money had and received, and unjust enrichment.
We filed a mo2on to compel arbitra2on of the 2011 claims. The court denied the mo2on. We filed an appeal, which remains
pending. We have not concluded that a loss related to this ma>er is probable, nor have we accrued a loss con2ngency related to
this ma>er. We believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intend to defend the case vigorously, but there
can be no assurances as to the outcome of the case or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and
cash flows.

On April 19, 2012, a puta2ve class ac2on lawsuit was filed against us in the United States District Court for the Western District of
Missouri styled Ronald Perras v. H&R Block, Inc., et al. (Case No. 4:12-cv-00450-DGK)  concerning a compliance fee charged to retail tax
clients in the 2011 and 2012 tax seasons. The plain2ff seeks to represent all persons na2onwide (excluding ci2zens of Missouri)
who were charged the compliance fee, and asserts claims of viola2on of various state consumer laws, money had and received,
and unjust enrichment. We filed a mo2on to compel arbitra2on of the 2011 claims, which remains pending. We have not concluded
that a loss related to this ma>er is probable, nor have we accrued a loss con2ngency related to this ma>er. We believe we have
meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intend to defend the case vigorously, but there can be no assurances as to the
outcome of the case or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

FORM 8863 LITIGATION - A series of puta2ve class ac2on lawsuits were filed against us in various federal courts and one state
court beginning on March 13, 2013 (including, by way of example, Danielle Pooley v. H&R Block, Inc., No. 1:13-cv-01549-JBS-KMW (D.N.J.
Mar. 13, 2013); Arthur Green and Amy Hamilton v. H&R Block, Inc., et al., No. 4:13-cv-11206 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 19, 2013); Juan Ortega v. H&R Block,
Inc., et al., No. 2:13-cv-02023-MMM-RZ (C.D. Cal. Mar. 20, 2013); and Nikki R. Nevill v. H&R Block, Inc., et al., No. 1316-CV07264 (Jackson Cnty.,
Mo. Cir. Ct. Mar. 21, 2013)). Taken together, the plain2ffs in these ac2ons purport to represent certain clients na2onwide who filed
Form 8863 during tax season 2013 through an H&R Block office or using H&R Block At Home ®  online tax services or tax
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prepara2on soRware,  and al lege breach of  contract ,  negl igence and v iola2on of  state consumer laws in  connec2on with
transmission of the form. The plain2ffs seek damages, pre-judgment interest, a>orneys' fees and costs. We filed mo2ons to compel
arbitra2on in certain of the cases,  which remain pending.  In July 2013, we filed a pe22on reques2ng the Judicial  Panel on
Mul2district Li2ga2on to consolidate the federal cases for coordinated pretrial proceedings. A hearing on that pe22on is set for
September 26, 2013. In August 2013, the plain2ff in the state court ac2on voluntarily dismissed her case without prejudice. We have
not concluded that a loss related to these lawsuits is probable, nor have we accrued a l iabil ity related to these lawsuits. We
believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims in these cases and intend to defend the cases vigorously, but there can be no
assurances as to the outcome of these cases or their impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash
flows.

EXPRESS IRA LITIGATION – On January 2, 2008, the Mississippi A>orney General in the Chancery Court of Hinds County, Mississippi
First Judicial District (Case No. G 2008 6 S 2) filed a lawsuit regarding our former Express IRA product that is styled Jim Hood, A/orney
for the State of Mississippi v. H&R Block, Inc., H&R Block Financial Advisors, Inc ., et al. The complaint alleges fraudulent business prac2ces,
decep2ve acts and prac2ces, common law fraud and breach of fiduciary duty with respect to the sale of the product in Mississippi
and seeks equitable relief, disgorgement of profits, damages and res2tu2on, civil penal2es and puni2ve damages. We believe we
have meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intend to defend the case vigorously, but there can be no assurances as
to its outcome or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

Although we sold H&R Block Financial Advisors, Inc. (HRBFA) effec2ve November 1, 2008, we remain responsible for any liabili2es
rela2ng to the Express IRA li2ga2on, among other things, through an indemnifica2on agreement. A por2on of our accrual is related
to these indemnity obliga2ons.

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS PERTAINING TO THE DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS OF RSM MCGLADREY – On April 17, 2009, a shareholder
deriva2ve complaint was filed by Brian Menezes, deriva2vely and on behalf of nominal defendant Interna2onal Tex2le Group, Inc.
against McGladrey Capital Markets LLC (MCM) in the Court of Common Pleas, Greenville County, South Carolina (C.A. No. 2009-CP-23-
3346) styled Brian P. Menezes, Deriva�vely on Behalf of Nominal Defendant, Interna�onal Tex�le Group, Inc. (f/k/a Safety Components
Interna�onal, Inc.) v. McGladrey Capital Markets, LLC (f/k/a RSM EquiCo Capital Markets, LLC), et al. Plain2ffs filed an amended complaint in
October 2011 styled In re Interna�onal Tex�le Group Merger Li�ga�on , adding a puta2ve class ac2on claim. Plain2ffs allege claims of
aiding and abe]ng, civil  conspiracy, gross negligence and breach of fiduciary duty against MCM in connec2on with a fairness
opinion MCM provided to the Special Commi>ee of Safety Components Interna2onal, Inc. (SCI) in 2006 regarding the merger
between Interna2onal Tex2le Group, Inc. and SCI. Plain2ffs seek actual and puni2ve damages, pre-judgment interest, a>orneys'
fees and costs. On February 8, 2012, the court dismissed plain2ffs' civi l  conspiracy claim against al l  defendants. A class was
cer2fied on the remaining claims on November 20, 2012. The court granted summary judgment in favor of MCM on June 3, 2013 on the
breach of fiduciary duty claim. A trial date is set for September 9, 2013 on the remaining claims. A por2on of our loss con2ngency
accrual is related to this lawsuit for the amount of loss that we consider probable and reasonably es2mable. We believe we have
meritorious defenses to the claims in this case and intend to defend the case vigorously, but there can be no assurances as to its
outcome or its impact on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

In connec2on with the sale of RSM and MCM, we indemnified the buyers against certain li2ga2on ma>ers. The indemni2es are
not subject to a stated term or limit. A por2on of our accrual is related to these indemnity obliga2ons.

OTHER – We are from 2me to 2me a party to inves2ga2ons, claims and lawsuits not discussed herein arising out of our business
opera2ons. These inves2ga2ons, claims and lawsuits may include ac2ons by state a>orneys general,  other state regulators,
federal regulators, individual plain2ffs, and cases in which plain2ffs seek to represent a class of others similarly situated. We
believe we have meritorious defenses to each of these inves2ga2ons, claims and lawsuits, and we are defending or intend to
defend them vigorously. The amounts claimed in these ma>ers are substan2al in some instances; however, the ul2mate liability
with respect to such ma>ers is difficult to predict. In the event of an unfavorable outcome, the amounts we may be required to pay
in the discharge of l iabi l i2es or se>lements could have a material  impact on our consolidated financial  posi2on, results of
opera2ons and cash flows.

We are also a party to claims and lawsuits that we consider to be ordinary,  rou2ne l i2ga2on incidental  to our business,
including, but not limited to, claims and lawsuits concerning the prepara2on of customers' income tax returns, the fees charged
customers for various services and products, rela2onships with franchisees, intellectual property disputes, marke2ng and other
compe2tor disputes, employment ma>ers and contract disputes (Other
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Claims). While we cannot provide assurance that we will ul2mately prevail in each instance, we believe the amount, if any, we are
required to pay in the discharge from liabili2es in, or se>lements of, these Other Claims will not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows.

NOTE 13: LOSS CONTINGENCIES ARISING FROM REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF OUR DISCONTINUED MORTGAGE OPERATIONS

SCC ceased origina2ng mortgage loans in December 2007 and, in April 2008, sold its servicing assets and discon2nued its remaining
opera2ons.

Mortgage loans originated by SCC were sold either as whole loans to single third-party buyers or in the form of RMBSs. In
connec2on with the sale of loans and/or RMBSs, SCC made certain representa2ons and warran2es. These representa2ons and
warran2es varied based on the nature of the transac2on and the buyer's or insurer's requirements, but generally pertained to the
ownership of the loan, the validity of the l ien securing the loan, borrower fraud, the loan's compliance with the criteria for
inclusion in the transac2on, including compliance with SCC's underwri2ng standards or loan criteria established by the buyer,
abil ity to deliver required documenta2on, and compliance with applicable laws. Representa2ons and warran2es related to
borrower fraud in whole loan sale transac2ons to ins2tu2onal investors, which represented approximately 68% of the disposal of
loans originated in calendar years 2005, 2006 and 2007, included a “knowledge qualifier” limi2ng SCC's liability to those instances
where SCC had knowledge of the fraud at the 2me the loans were sold.  Representa2ons and warran2es made in other sale
transac2ons effec2vely did not include a knowledge qualifier as to borrower fraud. SCC believes it would have an obliga2on to
repurchase a loan or indemnify certain par2es with respect to a claim for a breach of a representa2on and warranty only if such
breach materially and adversely affects the value of the mortgage loan, or a securi2za2on insurer's or cer2ficate holder's interest in
the mortgage loan, and the mortgage loan has not been l iquidated, although there is l imited and conflic2ng case law on the
liquidated loan defense issue. Such claims together with any se>lement arrangements related to these losses are collec2vely
referred to as “representa2on and warranty claims.”

Representa2on and warranty c la ims received by SCC have primari ly  related to al leged breaches of  representa2ons and
warran2es related to a loan's compliance with the underwri2ng standards established by SCC at origina2on and borrower fraud for
loans originated in calendar years 2006 and 2007. SCC has received $2.1 billion in claims since May 1, 2008, of which $190 million
were received in fiscal year 2013 and $1.1 billion in fiscal year 2012. SCC received new claims totaling $68.6 million during the three
months ended July 31, 2013, the majority of which were received from par2es with whom SCC has tolling agreements. These tolling
agreements toll the running of any applicable statute of limita2ons related to poten2al lawsuits regarding representa2on and
warranty claims and other claims against SCC. Claims totaling approximately $71.7 million remained subject to review as of July 31,
2013, of which, approximately $1.9 million represent a reasser2on of previously denied claims.

SETTLEMENT ACTIONS - SCC has entered into tolling agreements with the counterpar2es that ini2ated a significant majority of the
asserted claims received by SCC. Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013 and con2nuing into the first quarter of fiscal year
2014, SCC has been engaged in discussions with these counterpar2es regarding the bulk se>lement of previously denied and
poten2al future claims. Based on se>lement discussions with these counterpar2es, SCC believes a bulk se>lement approach,
rather than the loan-by-loan resolu2on process, will be needed to resolve all of the representa2on and warranty and other claims
that are the subject of these discussions. In the event that current efforts to se>le are not successful, SCC believes claim volumes
may increase or li2ga2on may result.

SCC con2nues to engage in a loan-by-loan review of new requests for repurchase. SCC has and will con2nue to vigorously contest
any request for repurchase when it has concluded that a valid basis for repurchase does not exist.  SCC's decision whether to
engage in bulk se>lement discussions is based on factors that vary by counterparty or type of counterparty and include the
considera2ons used by SCC in determining its loss es2mate, described below under "Liability for Es2mated Con2ngent Losses."

LIABILITY FOR ESTIMATED CONTINGENT LOSSES - SCC records a liability for losses related to representa2on and warranty claims
when those losses are believed to be both probable and reasonably es2mable. Development of loss es2mates is subjec2ve,
subject to a high degree of management judgment, and es2mates may vary significantly period to period. SCC's loss es2mate as of
July 31, 2013 considers the experience gained through discussions with counterpar2es, and an assessment of, among other things,
historical claim results, threatened claims, terms and
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provisions of related agreements, counterparty willingness to pursue a se>lement, legal standing of counterpar2es to provide a
comprehensive se>lement, the poten2al pro-rata realiza2on of the claims as compared to all similar claims and other relevant
facts and circumstances when developing its es2mate of probable loss. The es2mate is based on the best informa2on currently
available, significant management judgment, and a number of factors, including developments in case law and those factors
men2oned above, that are subject to change. Changes in any one of these factors could significantly impact the es2mate.

The liability is included in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabili2es on the consolidated balance sheets.
A rollforward of SCC's accrued liability for these loss con2ngencies is as follows:

(in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Balance, beginning of the period  $ 158,765  $ 130,018

Provisions  —  —

Payments  —  (753)

Balance, end of the period  $ 158,765  $ 129,265

     
SCC is taking the legal posi2on, where appropriate, for both contractual representa2on and warranty claims and similar claims

in l i2ga2on, that a val id representa2on and warranty claim cannot be made with respect to a mortgage loan that has been
liquidated. There is limited and conflic2ng case law on this issue. These decisions are from lower courts, are inconsistent in their
analysis and recep2vity to this defense, and are subject to appeal. It is an2cipated that the liquidated mortgage loan defense will
be the subject of future judicial decisions. Un2l the validity of the liquidated loan defense is further clarified by the courts or other
developments occur, SCC's es2mated accrual for representa2on and warranty will not take this defense into account.

ESTIMATED RANGE OF POSSIBLE LOSS - SCC believes it is reasonably possible that future representa2on and warranty losses may
vary from amounts recorded for these exposures. SCC currently es2mates that the range of reasonably possible loss could be up to
$30 million in excess of amounts accrued. This es2mated range is based on currently available informa2on, significant judgment
and a number of assump2ons that are subject to change. The actual loss that may be incurred could be more or less than our
accrual or the es2mate of reasonably possible losses.    

INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS - As descr ibed more ful ly  in  note 12,  losses may also be incurred with respect  to var ious
indemnifica2on claims by underwriters and depositors in securi2za2on transac2ons in which SCC par2cipated. Losses from these
indemnifica2on claims are frequently not subject to a stated term or limit. We have not concluded that a loss related to any of
t h e s e  i n d e m n i fi c a 2 o n  c l a i m s  i s  p r o b a b l e ;  h o w e v e r ,  t h e r e  c a n  b e  n o  a s s u r a n c e s  a s  t o  t h e  o u t c o m e  o r  i m p a c t  o f  t h e s e
indemnifica2on claims on our consolidated financial posi2on, results of opera2ons and cash flows. The accrued liability described
above totaling $158.8 million does not include accrued losses, if any, which may arise from these indemnifica2on claims.
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NOTE 14: DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Discon2nued opera2ons consist of our former Business Services segment and SCC. We sold or ceased to operate all businesses
within our former Business Services segment in fiscal year 2012. SCC exited its mortgage business in fiscal year 2008.

Results of our discon2nued opera2ons are as follows:

(in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Revenues  $ —  $ —

Pretax income (loss) from opera2ons:     
RSM and related businesses  $ (1,228)  $ 528

Mortgage  (1,898)  (3,463)

  (3,126)  (2,935)

Income tax benefit  (1,209)  (1,144)

Net loss from discon2nued opera2ons  $ (1,917)  $ (1,791)

     
NOTE 15: REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

The following table sets forth HRB Bank's regulatory capital requirements calculated in its Call Report, as filed with the Federal
Financial Ins2tu2ons Examina2on Council (FFIEC):

(dollars in 000s) 

  Actual  
Minimum

Capital Requirement   
Minimum to be
Well Capitalized

  Amount  Ra2o  Amount  Ra2o   Amount  Ra2o

As of June 30, 2013:              
Total risk-based capital ra2o (1 )  $ 508,667  132.5%  $ 30,701  8.0%   $ 38,376  10.0%

Tier 1 risk-based capital ra2o (2 )  503,536  131.2%  N/A  N/A   23,026  6.0%

Tier 1 capital ra2o (leverage) (3 )  503,536  36.9%  163,620  12.0% (5)  68,175  5.0%

Tangible equity ra2o (4 )  503,536  36.9%  20,453  1.5%   N/A  N/A

As of June 30, 2012:              
Total risk-based capital ra2o (1 )  $ 461,856  123.8%  $ 29,856  8.0%   $ 37,321  10.0%

Tier 1 risk-based capital ra2o (2 )  456,945  122.4%  N/A  N/A   22,392  6.0%

Tier 1 capital ra2o (leverage) (3 )  456,945  38.7%  47,227  12.0% (5)  59,034  5.0%

Tangible equity ra2o (4 )  456,945  38.7%  17,710  1.5%   N/A  N/A

As of March 31, 2013:              
Total risk-based capital ra2o (1 )  $ 506,734  131.6%  $ 30,806  8.0%   $ 38,508  10.0%

Tier 1 risk-based capital ra2o (2 )  501,731  130.3%  N/A  N/A   23,105  6.0%

Tier 1 capital ra2o (leverage) (3 )  501,731  25.5%  236,315  12.0% (5)  98,464  5.0%

Tangible equity ra2o (4 )  501,731  25.5%  29,539  1.5%   N/A  N/A
(1) Total risk-based capital divided by risk-weighted assets.
(2) Tier 1 (core) capital less deduc2on for low-level recourse and residual interest divided by risk-weighted assets.
(3) Tier 1 (core) capital divided by adjusted total assets.
(4) Tangible capital divided by tangible assets.
(5) Effec2ve April 5, 2012, the minimum capital requirement was changed to 4% by the OCC, although HRB Bank plans to maintain a minimum of 12.0% leverage capital at the

end of each calendar quarter.

Quan2ta2ve measures established by regula2on to ensure capital adequacy require HRB Bank to maintain minimum amounts
and ra2os of tangible equity, total risk-based capital and Tier 1 capital, as set forth in the table above. As of July 31, 2013, HRB
Bank’s leverage ra2o was 38.2%.
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NOTE 16: SEGMENT INFORMATION

Results of our con2nuing opera2ons by reportable segment are as follows:

(in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

REVENUES :     
Tax Services  $ 121,691  $ 90,253

Corporate and elimina2ons  5,504  6,236

  $ 127,195  $ 96,489

LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXES :     
Tax Services  $ (144,394)  $ (140,905)

Corporate and elimina2ons  (40,100)  (28,364)

  $ (184,494)  $ (169,269)

   

NOTE 17: CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Block Financial is an indirect, 100% owned subsidiary of the Company. Block Financial is the Issuer and the Company is the full and
uncondi2onal  Guarantor of  the Senior Notes issued on October 25,  2012 and October 26,  2004,  our 2012 CLOC, and other
indebtedness issued from 2me to 2me. These condensed consolida2ng financial statements have been prepared using the equity
method of accoun2ng. Earnings of subsidiaries are, therefore, reflected in the Company’s investment in subsidiaries account. The
elimina2on entries eliminate investments in subsidiaries, related stockholders’ equity and other intercompany balances and
transac2ons.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  (in 000s)

Three months ended July 31, 2013  
H&R Block, Inc.

(Guarantor)  
Block Financial

(Issuer)  
Other

Subsidiaries  Elimina2ons  
Consolidated

H&R Block

Total revenues  $ —  $ 27,215  $ 100,136  $ (156)  $ 127,195

Cost of revenues  —  39,359  170,850  (156)  210,053

Selling, general and administra2ve  —  14,038  82,659  —  96,697

Total expenses  —  53,397  253,509  (156)  306,750

Opera2ng loss  —  (26,182)  (153,373)  —  (179,555)

Other income (expense), net  (184,494)  44  (4,983)  184,494  (4,939)

Loss from con2nuing opera2ons before tax benefit  (184,494)  (26,138)  (158,356)  184,494  (184,494)

Income tax benefit  (71,224)  (9,398)  (61,826)  71,224  (71,224)

Net loss from con2nuing opera2ons  (113,270)  (16,740)  (96,530)  113,270  (113,270)

Net loss from discon2nued opera2ons  (1,917)  (1,163)  (754)  1,917  (1,917)

Net loss  (115,187)  (17,903)  (97,284)  115,187  (115,187)

Other comprehensive loss  (10,807)  (7,724)  (3,083)  10,807  (10,807)

Comprehensive loss  $ (125,994)  $ (25,627)  $ (100,367)  $ 125,994  $ (125,994)
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Three months ended July 31, 2012  
H&R Block, Inc.

(Guarantor)  
Block Financial

(Issuer)  
Other

Subsidiaries  Elimina2ons  
Consolidated

H&R Block

Total revenues  $ —  $ 21,929  $ 74,616  $ (56)  $ 96,489

Cost of revenues  —  34,942  158,538  (56)  193,424

Selling, general and administra2ve  —  7,640  67,838  —  75,478

Total expenses  —  42,582  226,376  (56)  268,902

Opera2ng loss  —  (20,653)  (151,760)  —  (172,413)

Other income (expense), net  (169,269)  1,324  1,820  169,269  3,144

Loss from con2nuing opera2ons before tax benefit  (169,269)  (19,329)  (149,940)  169,269  (169,269)

Income tax benefit  (63,619)  (8,255)  (55,364)  63,619  (63,619)

Net loss from con2nuing opera2ons  (105,650)  (11,074)  (94,576)  105,650  (105,650)

Net income (loss) from discon2nued opera2ons  (1,791)  (2 ,111)  320  1,791  (1,791)

Net loss  (107,441)  (13,185)  (94,256)  107,441  (107,441)

Other comprehensive income (loss)  (4,795)  135  (4,930)  4,795  (4,795)

Comprehensive loss  $ (112,236)  $ (13,050)  $ (99,186)  $ 112,236  $ (112,236)

           

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS  (in 000s)

As of July 31, 2013  
H&R Block, Inc.

(Guarantor)  
Block Financial

(Issuer)  
Other

Subsidiaries  Elimina2ons  
Consolidated

H&R Block

Cash & cash equivalents  $ —  $ 439,100  $ 728,246  $ (3,470)  $ 1,163,876

Cash & cash equivalents — restricted  —  12,290  43,187  —  55,477

Receivables, net  460  94,932  25,917  —  121,309

Mortgage loans held for investment, net  —  309,681  —  —  309,681

Intangible assets and goodwill, net  —  —  716,122  —  716,122

Investments in subsidiaries  3,274,648  330  1,564  (3,274,648)  1,894

Amounts due from affiliates  —  409,794  2,176,279  (2,586,073)  —

Other assets  6,976  651,998  735,555  —  1,394,529

Total assets  $ 3,282,084  $ 1,918,125  $ 4,426,870  $ (5,864,191)  $ 3,762,888

           
Customer deposits  $ —  $ 761,399  $ —  $ (3,470)  $ 757,929

Long-term debt  —  897,107  9,525  —  906,632

Other liabili2es  490  238,678  753,844  —  993,012

Amounts due to affiliates  2,176,279  —  409,794  (2,586,073)  —

Stockholders’ equity  1,105,315  20,941  3,253,707  (3,274,648)  1,105,315

Total liabili2es and stockholders’ equity  $ 3,282,084  $ 1,918,125  $ 4,426,870  $ (5,864,191)  $ 3,762,888
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As of July 31, 2012  
H&R Block, Inc.

(Guarantor)  
Block Financial

(Issuer)  
Other

Subsidiaries  Elimina2ons  
Consolidated

H&R Block

Cash & cash equivalents  $ —  $ 342,859  $ 598,336  $ (1,324)  $ 939,871

Cash & cash equivalents — restricted  —  859  42,250  —  43,109

Receivables, net  —  91,335  25,022  —  116,357

Mortgage loans held for investment, net  —  386,759  —  —  386,759

Intangible assets and goodwill, net  —  —  702,634  —  702,634

Investments in subsidiaries  957,349  —  641  (957,349)  641

Amounts due from affiliates (1)  110  —  225,104  (225,214)  —

Other assets  7,734  940,226  456,946  —  1,404,906

Total assets  $ 965,193  $ 1,762,038  $ 2,050,933  $ (1,183,887)  $ 3,594,277

           
Customer deposits  $ —  $ 649,702  $ —  $ (1,324)  $ 648,378

Long-term debt  —  999,415  10,219  —  1,009,634

Other liabili2es  248  232,997  857,347  —  1,090,592

Amounts due to affiliates (1)  119,272  105,832  110  (225,214)  —

Stockholders’ equity  845,673  (225,908)  1,183,257  (957,349)  845,673

Total liabili2es and stockholders’ equity  $ 965,193  $ 1,762,038  $ 2,050,933  $ (1,183,887)  $ 3,594,277

           
(1) Amounts have been restated to conform to the current period presenta2on, including the presenta2on of income tax receivables se>led with affiliates and the presenta2on of intercompany receivables and payables

gross, rather than net.

As of April 30, 2013  
H&R Block, Inc.

(Guarantor)  
Block Financial

(Issuer)  
Other

Subsidiaries  Elimina2ons  
Consolidated

H&R Block

Cash & cash equivalents  $ —  $ 558,110  $ 1,192,197  $ (2,723)  $ 1,747,584

Cash & cash equivalents — restricted  —  75,096  42,741  —  117,837

Receivables, net  769  99,844  106,222  —  206,835

Mortgage loans held for investment, net  —  338,789  —  —  338,789

Intangible assets and goodwill, net  —  —  719,221  —  719,221

Investments in subsidiaries  3,444,442  473  —  (3,444,442)  473

Amounts due from affiliates  —  410,590  2,189,625  (2,600,215)  —

Other assets  8,390  645,166  753,484  —  1,407,040

Total assets  $ 3,453,601  $ 2,128,068  $ 5,003,490  $ (6,047,380)  $ 4,537,779

           
Customer deposits  $ —  $ 939,187  $ —  $ (2,723)  $ 936,464

Long-term debt  —  896,978  9,702  —  906,680

Other liabili2es  429  245,862  1,184,797  —  1,431,088

Amounts due to affiliates  2,189,625  —  410,590  (2,600,215)  —

Stockholders’ equity  1,263,547  46,041  3,398,401  (3,444,442)  1,263,547

Total liabili2es and stockholders’ equity  $ 3,453,601  $ 2,128,068  $ 5,003,490  $ (6,047,380)  $ 4,537,779

           

H&R Block Q1 FY2014 Form 10-Q 31



Table of Contents

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  (in 000s)

Three months ended July 31, 2013  
H&R Block, Inc.

(Guarantor)  
Block Financial

(Issuer)  
Other

Subsidiaries  Elimina2ons  
Consolidated

H&R Block

Net cash provided by (used in) opera2ng ac2vi2es:  $ 1,784  $ 53,801  $ (374,327)  $ —  $ (318,742)

Cash flows from inves2ng:           
Purchases of AFS securi2es  —  (45,158)  —  —  (45,158)

Maturi2es and payments received on AFS securi2es  —  32,061  —  —  32,061

Mortgage loans held for investment, net  —  11,707  —  —  11,707

Purchases of property & equipment  —  —  (34,386)  —  (34,386)

Loans made to franchisees  —  (6,657)  —  —  (6,657)

Repayments from franchisees  —  7,164  —  —  7,164

Intercompany advances (payments)  35,014  —  —  (35,014)  —

Other, net  —  5,501  678  —  6,179

Net cash provided by (used in) inves2ng ac2vi2es  35,014  4,618  (33,708)  (35,014)  (29,090)

Cash flows from financing:           
Customer banking deposits, net  —  (178,617)  —  (747)  (179,364)

Dividends paid  (54,550)  —  —  —  (54,550)

Repurchase of common stock  (4,201)  —  —  —  (4,201)

Proceeds from stock op2ons  21,953  —  —  —  21,953

Intercompany advances (payments)  —  1,188  (36,202)  35,014  —

Other, net  —  —  (13,093)  —  (13,093)

Net cash used in financing ac2vi2es  (36,798)  (177,429)  (49,295)  34,267  (229,255)

Effects of exchange rates on cash  —  —  (6,621)  —  (6,621)

Net decrease in cash  —  (119,010)  (463,951)  (747)  (583,708)

Cash – beginning of the period  —  558,110  1,192,197  (2,723)  1,747,584

Cash – end of the period  $ —  $ 439,100  $ 728,246  $ (3,470)  $ 1,163,876
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Three months ended July 31, 2012  
H&R Block, Inc.

(Guarantor)  
Block Financial

(Issuer)  
Other

Subsidiaries  Elimina2ons  
Consolidated

H&R Block

Net cash used in opera2ng ac2vi2es:  $ (20,577)  $ (42,793)  $ (309,770)  $ —  $ (373,140)

Cash flows from inves2ng:           
Purchases of AFS securi2es  —  (28,990)  —  —  (28,990)

Maturi2es and payments received on AFS securi2es  —  21,112  17  —  21,129

Mortgage loans held for investment, net  —  12,652  —  —  12,652

Purchases of property & equipment  —  (31)  (13,242)  —  (13,273)

Loans made to franchisees  —  (5,062)  —  —  (5,062)

Repayments from franchisees  —  5,154  —  —  5,154

Net intercompany advances  413,392  —  —  (413,392)  —

Other, net  —  1,654  2 1  —  1,675

Net cash provided by (used in) inves2ng ac2vi2es  413,392  6,489  (13,204)  (413,392)  (6,715)

Cash flows from financing:           
Repayments of other borrowings  —  —  (30,831)  —  (30,831)

Customer banking deposits, net  —  (179,038)  —  (481)  (179,519)

Dividends paid  (54,201)  —  —  —  (54,201)

Repurchase of common stock  (339,088)  —  —  —  (339,088)

Proceeds from stock op2ons  468  —  —  —  468

Net intercompany advances  —  42,908  (456,300)  413,392  —

Other, net  6  146  (20,091)  —  (19,939)

Net cash used in financing ac2vi2es  (392,815)  (135,984)  (507,222)  412,911  (623,110)

Effects of exchange rates on cash  —  —  (1,498)  —  (1,498)

Net decrease in cash  —  (172,288)  (831,694)  (481)  (1,004,463)

Cash – beginning of the period  —  515,147  1,430,030  (843)  1,944,334

Cash – end of the period  $ —  $ 342,859  $ 598,336  $ (1,324)  $ 939,871
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our  subs id iar ies  prov ide  tax  prepara2on and reta i l  bank ing  serv ices .  Tax  returns  are  e i ther  prepared by  H&R B lock  tax
professionals (in company-owned or franchise offices or virtually via the internet) or prepared and filed by our clients through H&R
Block At Home® , either online or using our soRware or mobile applica2ons. We are the only major company offering a full range of
DIY - online, soRware and mobile applica2ons - and professional assisted tax prepara2on solu2ons to individual tax clients.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

On July 11, 2013, HRB Bank and Block Financial entered into a P&A Agreement with Republic Bank. Pursuant to the P&A Agreement,
HRB Bank will, among other ma>ers, transfer all of its deposit liabili2es, ( $759.7 million if the closing were effec2ve July 31, 2013)
to Republic Bank with a cash payment of approximately the same amount, subject to several condi2ons, including the finaliza2on
of various opera2ng agreements and regulatory approval.  If  the respec2ve par2es receive regulatory approval on or before
September 30, 2013, this transac2on will have a closing date of not later than November 15, 2013. If regulatory approval is received
aRer September 30, 2013 but on or before March 31, 2014, this transac2on will have a closing date between April 30, 2014 and June
18, 2014. Simultaneously with any closing, HRB Bank will convert into a na2onal banking associa2on, merge with and into Block
Financial,  surrender its bank charter, and cease to operate as a separate legal en2ty. At that 2me, H&R Block, Inc. and Block
Financial would no longer be savings and loan holding companies subject to regulatory oversight of the Federal Reserve or related
regulatory capital requirements. Prior to entering into this agreement, Republic Bank filed an applica2on with its regulators to
convert to a na2onal bank charter which is being processed concurrently with the review of the transac2on between H&R Block, Inc.
and Republic Bank. We have received indica2ons that addi2onal 2me is needed for Republic Bank’s regulators to process their
applica2ons. We, therefore, expect to con2nue offering our financial products and services to our clients through HRB Bank for the
2014 tax season.

We plan to con2nue to offer financial products and services to our clients subsequent to HRB Bank ceasing opera2ons and we
are currently nego2a2ng addi2onal agreements with Republic Bank, including an MSA Agreement and a related RPA Agreement,
under which Republic Bank will serve as the bank offering H&R Block-branded financial services and products, and we will service
and administer such financial services and products for Republic Bank.

The obliga2ons of the par2es to complete the P&A Transac2on are subject to the fulfillment of numerous condi2ons including
regulatory approval and agreement upon, execu2on and delivery of the MSA Agreement and the RPA Agreement. We cannot be
certain when or if these condi2ons will be sa2sfied, and therefore we cannot predict the 2ming or the likelihood of comple2ng the
P&A Transac2on and ceasing to be regulated as an SLHC.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW - A summary of our results is as follows:

▪ Revenues for the current quarter were $127.2 million, up 31.8% from the prior year, primarily as a result of the 2ming of early-
season revenues for our Australian tax opera2ons which we expect will largely reverse by the end (October) of the Australian tax
season.

▪ Pretax losses totaled $184.5 million, or 9.0% worse than the prior year, primarily due to accrued costs directly associated with
the P&A Transac2on and the write-down of mortgage loans held for sale, each as described below. Lower interest expense was
offset by foreign currency losses, increased li2ga2on costs/se>lements, and increases in other loss reserves.

▪ In connec2on with the P&A Agreement, we incurred certain fees for professional advisors and accrued employee termina2on
benefits totaling $7.5 million during the three months ended July 31, 2013. In addi2on, indirectly related to the P&A Transac2on,
we wrote-down to fair value certain mortgage loans we intend to sell,  resul2ng in a $2.9 million provision during the three
months ended July 31, 2013.
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Consolidated Results of Opera/ons Data  (in 000s, except per share amounts) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

REVENUES:     
Tax Services  $ 121,691  $ 90,253

Corporate and elimina2ons  5,504  6,236

  $ 127,195  $ 96,489

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXES:     
Tax Services  $ (144,394)  $ (140,905)

Corporate and elimina2ons  (40,100)  (28,364)

  (184,494)  (169,269)

Income tax benefit  (71,224)  (63,619)

Net loss from con2nuing opera2ons  (113,270)  (105,650)

Net loss from discon2nued opera2ons  (1,917)  (1,791)

NET LOSS  $ (115,187)  $ (107,441)

     
BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE:     

Con2nuing opera2ons  $ (0.42)  $ (0.38)

Discon2nued opera2ons  —  (0.01)

Consolidated  $ (0.42)  $ (0.39)

     
EBITDA FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (1)  $ (147,174)  $ (126,641)

EBITDA FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS - ADJUSTED (1)  (138,672)  (129,214)

     
(1) See “Non-GAAP Financial Informa2on” at the end of this item for a reconcilia2on of non-GAAP measures.
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TAX SERVICES

This segment consists of our income tax prepara2on offerings - assisted, online, soRware and mobile applica2ons, including tax
opera2ons primarily in the U.S. and its territories, Canada, and Australia. This segment also includes the ac2vi2es of HRB Bank that
primarily support the tax network.

Tax Services – Financial Results  (dollars in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Tax prepara2on fees:     
U.S.  $ 22,026  $ 18,835

Interna2onal  32,094  14,058

  54,120  32,893

Royal2es  6,562  5,851

Fees from Emerald Card  14,611  12,056

Fees from Peace of Mind® guarantees  27,826  26,983

Other  18,572  12,470

Total revenues  121,691  90,253

     
Compensa2on and benefits:     

Field wages  39,904  32,408

Other wages  34,735  34,367

Benefits and other compensa2on  15,937  14,774

  90,576  81,549

Occupancy and equipment  78,550  79,851

Marke2ng and adver2sing  7,017  7,452

Deprecia2on and amor2za2on  22,802  20,471

Other  67,140  41,835

Total expenses  266,085  231,158

Pretax loss  $ (144,394)  $ (140,905)

     
Three months ended July 31, 2013 compared to July 31, 2012

Tax Services' revenues increased $31.4 million, or 34.8%, compared to the prior year. Interna2onal tax prepara2on fees increased
$18.0 million, or 128.3%, due primarily to the 2ming of early-season revenues for our Australian tax opera2ons which we expect will
largely reverse by the end (October) of the Australian tax season.

Emerald Card fees increased $2.6 million, or 21.2%, primarily due to higher transac2on volumes on Emerald Card accounts.

Other revenue increased $6.1 million, or 48.9%, primarily due to interest income on credit card balances and available-for-sale
securi2es.

Total expenses increased $34.9 million, or 15.1%, from the prior year. Total compensa2on and benefits increased $9.0 million
primarily due to higher field wages in Australia due to the 2ming change discussed above. Deprecia2on and amor2za2on expense
increased $2.3 million, or 11.4%, primarily due to upgrades made to our tax offices. Other expenses increased $25.3 million, or
60.5%, due in part to higher li2ga2on expenses and foreign currency losses of $5.3 million each. We also recorded higher bad debt
and processing expenses related to our credit card receivables.

The pretax loss for the current quarter totaled $144.4 million compared to $140.9 million in the prior year.
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CORPORATE, ELIMINATIONS AND INCOME TAXES ON CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Corporate opera2ng results include net interest margin and gains or losses rela2ng to mortgage loans, real estate owned and
residual interests in securi2za2ons, along with interest expense on borrowings, other corporate expenses and elimina2ons of
intercompany ac2vi2es.

Corporate – Opera/ng Results    (in 000s)

Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Interest income on mortgage loans held for investment  $ 3,542  $ 4,417

Other  1,962  1,819

Total revenues  5,504  6,236

     
Interest expense  13,424  20,668

Provision for loan losses  7,603  4,000

Other, net  24,577  9,932

Total expense  45,604  34,600

Pretax loss  $ (40,100)  $ (28,364)

     
Three months ended July 31, 2013 compared to July 31, 2012

Pretax results. Interest expense declined $7.2 million, or 35.0%, due to lower interest rates on our Senior Notes, and lower principal
balances outstanding. Our provision for loan losses increased $3.6 million, or 90.1%, from the prior year primarily as a result of a
write-down to fair value of $2.9 million recorded in connec2on with the transfer of $7.6 million of mortgage loans from held for
investment to held for sale. Other expenses increased $14.6 million, or 147.5%, primarily due to professional fees related to the
pending HRB Bank transac2on described above coupled with higher stock-based compensa2on and insurance costs.

Income Taxes on Con/nuing Opera/ons. Our effec2ve tax rate for con2nuing opera2ons was 38.6% and  37.6% for the three months
ended July 31, 2013 and  2012, respec2vely. Due to losses in both periods, a discrete tax benefit in either period increases the tax
rate while an item of discrete tax expense decreases the tax rate. During the current quarter, a net discrete tax expense of $0.2
mil l ion was recorded compared to a net discrete tax benefit of $2.7 million in the same period of the prior year. This net difference
in discrete tax expense was related to differences in income tax reserves recorded of $4.4 million offset by a decrease in state
interest receivable of $1.9 million. The 1.0% increase in our tax rate over the prior year was due to the change in discrete tax items
which was par2ally offset by a decrease in the base tax rate.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Discon2nued opera2ons include our previously reported Business Services segment and discon2nued mortgage opera2ons.

Representa/on and Warranty Claims. SCC records a l iabil ity for losses related to representa2on and warranty claims when those
losses are believed to be both probable and reasonably es2mable. SCC considers the experience gained through discussions with
counterpar2es, and an assessment of, among other things, historical claim results, threatened claims, terms and provisions of
related agreements, counterparty willingness to pursue a se>lement, legal standing of counterpar2es to provide a comprehensive
se>lement,  the poten2al  pro-rata real iza2on of  the c laims as compared to al l  s imi lar  c laims and other relevant facts  and
circumstances when developing its es2mate of probable loss.

We received new claims totaling $68.6 million during the three months ended July 31, 2013, the majority of which were received
from par2es with whom we have tolling agreements. We had n o payments for losses on representa2on and warranty claims during
the three months ended July 31, 2013, while loss payments totaled $0.8 million for the three months ended July 31, 2012.

SCC has accrued a liability as of July 31, 2013 for es2mated con2ngent losses arising from representa2on and warranty claims of
$158.8 million.  The es2mate of  accrued loss  is  based on the best  informa2on currently  avai lable,  s ignificant management
judgment, and a number of factors, including developments in case law and those factors men2oned above, that are subject to
change. Changes in any one of these factors could significantly impact the
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es2mate. It is reasonably possible that future representa2on and warranty losses may vary from the amounts recorded for these
exposures. SCC currently es2mates that the range of reasonably possible loss could be up to $30 million in excess of amounts
accrued. This es2mated range is based on currently available informa2on, significant judgment and a number of assump2ons that
are subject to change. The actual loss that may be incurred could be more or less than our accrual or the es2mate of reasonably
possible losses.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

These comments should be read in conjunc2on with the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of cash flows
included in Part 1, Item 1.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY -  Our sources of capital  and l iquidity include cash from opera2ons, cash from customer
deposits, issuances of common stock and debt. We use capital primarily to fund working capital, pay dividends, repurchase shares
of our common stock, acquire businesses and repay debt. Our opera2ons are highly seasonal and therefore generally require the
use of cash to fund opera2ng losses from May through mid-January.

Given the likely availability of a number of liquidity op2ons discussed herein, including borrowing capacity under our 2012 CLOC,
we believe that, in the absence of any unexpected developments, our exis2ng sources of capital at July 31, 2013 are sufficient to
meet our opera2ng needs and fulfill our an2cipated obliga2ons under the P&A Transac2on.

The following table summarizes our statements of cash flows for the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012. See Item 1 for
the complete statements of cash flows.

  (in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Net cash provided by (used in):     
Opera2ng ac2vi2es  $ (318,742)  $ (373,140)

Inves2ng ac2vi2es  (29,090)  (6,715)

Financing ac2vi2es  (229,255)  (623,110)

Effects of exchange rates on cash  (6,621)  (1,498)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  $ (583,708)  $ (1,004,463)

     
CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES - Cash used in opera2ons decreased $54.4 million from the prior year period primarily due to

lower restricted cash requirements of HRB Bank.

Restricted Cash. We hold certain cash balances that are restricted as to use. Cash and cash equivalents - restricted totaled $55.5
mil l ion, $43.1 million and  $117.8 million at  July 31, 2013 and  2012 and  April 30, 2013, respec2vely, and primarily consisted of cash
held by HRB Bank as required for regulatory compliance, and cash held by our cap2ve insurance subsidiary that will be used to pay
claims.

CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - Cash used in inves2ng ac2vi2es totaled $29.1 million for the three months ended July 31, 2013
compared to $6.7 million in the prior year period, primarily due to the following:

Available-for-Sale Securi/es. During the three months ended July 31, 2013, HRB Bank purchased $45.2 million in mortgage-backed
securi2es for regulatory purposes, compared to $29.0 million in the prior year. Addi2onally, we received payments on AFS securi2es
of $32.1 million in the current period compared to $21.1 million in the prior year.

Mortgage Loans Held for Investment. We received net proceeds of $11.7 million and $12.7 million on our mortgage loans held for
investment during the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respec2vely.

Purchases of Property and Equipment. Total cash paid for property and equipment was $34.4 million and  $13.3 million during the
three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respec2vely. The increase was primarily a result of upgrades to our tax offices.

Loans Made to Franchisees. Loans made to franchisees totaled $6.7 million a n d  $5.1 million during the three months ended
July 31, 2013 a n d  2012, respec2vely. We received payments from franchisees totaling $7.2 million a n d  $5.2 million, respec2vely.
These amounts include both the financing of sales of tax offices and short-term revolving loans made to franchisees to fund off-
season opera2ons.

38 H&R Block Q1 FY2014 Form 10-Q



Table of Contents

CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES - Cash used in financing ac2vi2es totaled $229.3 million for the three months ended July 31,
2013 compared to $623.1 million in the prior year period, and primarily relates to the following:

Repayments of Long-Term Debt. We had no repayments of long-term debt during the three months ended July 31, 2013. During the
three months ended July 31, 2012, we paid amounts totaling $30.8 million due in connec2on with a previous acquisi2on.

Other Borrowings. We may use commercial  paper borrowings or our 2012 CLOC to fund our off-season losses and seasonal
working capital needs. We had no such borrowings outstanding as of July 31, 2013 and 2012.

Customer Banking Deposits. Changes in customer banking deposits resulted in a use of cash of $179.4 million and  $179.5 million
for the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respec2vely.

Dividends. We have consistently paid quarterly dividends. Dividends paid totaled $54.6 million and  $54.2 million for the three
months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respec2vely. Although we have historically paid dividends and currently plan to con2nue to do
so, there can be no assurances that circumstances will not change in the future that could affect our ability or decisions to pay
dividends.

Repurchase and Re/rement of Common Stock. We had no repurchase or re2rements of our common stock during the three months
ended July 31, 2013. During the three months ended July 31, 2012, we purchased and immediately re2red 21.3 million shares of our
common stock at a cost of $315.0 million. There was $857.5 million remaining under our current share repurchase authoriza2on at
July 31, 2013.

Although we have historically from 2me to 2me repurchased and re2red common stock and our Board of Directors has approved
an extension of our current share repurchase program, there can be no assurances that circumstances will not change in the future
that could affect our ability or decisions to repurchase and re2re common stock.

Issuances of Common Stock. Proceeds from the issuance of common stock in accordance with our stock-based compensa2on plans
totaled $22.0 million and $0.5 million during the three months ended July 31, 2013 and 2012, respec2vely.

HRB BANK - As of July 31, 2013 and  2012 and  April 30, 2013, HRB Bank had cash balances of $435.5 million, $341.0 million a n d
$556.7 million, respec2vely. Dividends of this cash balance would be subject to regulatory approval.

On July 11, 2013, we entered into the P&A Agreement with Republic Bank. Pursuant to the P&A Agreement, HRB Bank will (among
other ma>ers) transfer all of its deposit liabili2es ( $759.7 million if the closing were effec2ve July 31, 2013) to Republic Bank with a
cash payment of approximately the same amount, subject to several condi2ons, including execu2on and delivery of various
opera2ng agreements  and regulatory  approval .  See addi2onal  d iscuss ion in  I tem 1,  note 2  to  the consol idated financia l
statements.

ASSETS HELD BY FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES -  As of  July 31, 2013 and  2012 and  April 30, 2013, cash and cash equivalent balances of
$322.6 million, $107.5 million and $273.1 million, respec2vely, were held by our foreign subsidiaries. As of July 31, 2013 and April 30,
2013,  our  Canadian opera2ons had approximately  $257 million of  U.S.  dol lar  denominated borrowings  due to var ious  U.S.
subsidiaries. These borrowings may be repaid in full or in part at any 2me. Non-borrowed funds would have to be repatriated to be
available to fund domes2c opera2ons, and in certain circumstances this would trigger the accrual of addi2onal income taxes on
those amounts.  As  of  July 31, 2013,  we do not  current ly  intend to  repatr iate  any non-borrowed funds held  by  our  fore ign
subsidiaries.

BORROWINGS

The following table provides ra2ngs for debt issued by Block Financial as of July 31, 2013 and 2012 and April 30, 2013:

  Short-term  Long-term  Outlook

Moody’s  P-2  Baa2  Nega/ve

S&P  A-2  BBB  Nega/ve

There have been no material changes in our borrowings from those reported at April 30, 2013 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

There have been no material changes in our contractual obliga2ons and commercial commitments from those reported at April 30,
2013 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Regulatory Changes - In July 2013, the federal banking agencies issued final rules to implement the Basel I I I  regulatory capital
reforms and changes required by the Dodd-Frank Act (the Basel III Capital Rules), which establish a new, comprehensive capital
framework for U.S. banking organiza2ons. The Basel III Capital Rules implement the Basel Commi>ee's December 2010 framework
known as “Basel III” for strengthening interna2onal capital standards as well as certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act. The
Basel III Capital Rules substan2ally revise the risk-based capital requirements applicable to depository ins2tu2ons, compared to
the current U.S. risk-based capital rules, and for the first 2me impose capital requirements on savings and loan holding companies
(SLHC). H&R Block, Inc., H&R Block Group, Inc. and Block Financial LLC (our Holding Companies) are SLHCs because they control HRB
Bank. The Basel III Capital Rules will become effec2ve for our Holding Companies and HRB Bank on January 1, 2015 (subject to
phase-in periods as discussed below), provided that our Holding Companies are s2ll SLHCs on that date.

The Basel III Capital Rules, among other things, introduce a new capital measure called “Common Equity Tier 1” (CET1). When
fully phased in on January 1, 2019, the Basel III Capital Rules will require SLHCs to maintain (i) a minimum ra2o of CET1 to risk-
weighted assets of at least 4.5%, plus a 2.5% “capital conserva2on buffer” (which is added to the 4.5% CET1 ra2o as that buffer is
phased in, effec2vely resul2ng in a minimum ra2o of CET1 to risk-weighted assets of at least 7% upon full implementa2on), (ii) a
minimum ra2o of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 6.0%, plus the capital conserva2on buffer (which is added to the
6.0% Tier 1 capital  ra2o as that buffer is  phased in,  effec2vely resul2ng in a minimum Tier 1 capital  ra2o of 8.5% upon ful l
implementa2on), (iii) a minimum ra2o of total capital (that is, Tier 1 plus Tier 2) to risk-weighted assets of at least 8.0%, plus the
capital conserva2on buffer (which is added to the 8.0% total capital ra2o as that buffer is phased in, effec2vely resul2ng in a
minimum total capital ra2o of 10.5% upon full implementa2on) and (iv) a minimum leverage ra2o of 4%, calculated as the ra2o of
Tier 1 capital to average assets.

Under the Basel III Capital Rules, the ini2al minimum capital ra2os as of January 1, 2015 will be as follows:
▪ 4.5% CET1 to risk-weighted assets
▪ 6.0% Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets
▪ 8.0% Total capital to risk-weighted assets

The Basel III Capital Rules provide for a number of deduc2ons from and adjustments to CET1. Under current capital standards,
the effects of accumulated other comprehensive income items included in capital are excluded for the purposes of determining
regulatory capital ra2os. Under the Basel III Capital Rules, the effects of certain accumulated other comprehensive items are not
excluded;  however,  certain banking organiza2ons,  including our Holding Companies and HRB Bank,  may make a one-2me
permanent elec2on to con2nue to exclude these items. Implementa2on of the deduc2ons and other adjustments to CET1 will begin
on January 1, 2015 and will be phased-in over a 4-year period. The implementa2on of the capital conserva2on buffer will begin on
January 1, 2016 and be phased in over a four-year period.

The Basel III Capital Rules prescribe a standardized approach for risk weigh2ngs that expand the risk-weigh2ng categories from
the current four Basel I-derived categories (0%, 20%, 50% and 100%) to a much larger and more risk-sensi2ve number of categories,
depending on the nature of the assets, generally ranging from 0% for U.S. government and agency securi2es to 600% for certain
equity exposures, and resul2ng in higher risk weights for a variety of asset categories.

Except as otherwise disclosed in the Risk Factors,  we are in the process of assessing the impact of these changes on the
regulatory capital ra2os of the Company and HRB Bank and the capital, opera2ons, liquidity and earnings of the Company and HRB
Bank.

P&A Transac/on - On July 11, 2013, we entered into the P&A Agreement with Republic Bank. Pursuant to the P&A Agreement, HRB
Bank will (among other ma>ers) transfer all of its deposit liabili2es ( $759.7 million if the closing were effec2ve July 31, 2013) to
Republic Bank with a cash payment of approximately the same amount.  The obliga2ons of the par2es to complete the P&A
Transac2on are subject to the fulfillment of numerous condi2ons including regulatory
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approval and agreement upon, execu2on and delivery of the MSA Agreement and the RPA Agreement. We cannot be certain when or
if these condi2ons will be sa2sfied, and therefore we cannot predict the 2ming or the likelihood of comple2ng the P&A Transac2on
and ceasing to be regulated as an SLHC. See addi2onal discussion in Item 1, note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

There have been no other material changes in our regulatory environment from those reported at April 30, 2013 in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered as a subs2tute for, or superior to, measures of financial performance
prepared in accordance with accoun2ng principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP). Because these measures are not
measures of financial performance under GAAP and are suscep2ble to varying calcula2ons, they may not be comparable to similarly
2tled measures in other companies.

We consider non-GAAP financial measures to be a useful metric for management and investors to evaluate and compare the
ongoing opera2ng performance of our business on a consistent basis across repor2ng periods, as it eliminates the effect of items
that are not indica2ve of our core opera2ng performance.

The following are descrip2ons of adjustments we make for our non-GAAP financial measures:

▪ We exclude from our non-GAAP financial measures li2ga2on charges we incur and favorable reserve adjustments. This does
not include legal defense costs.

▪ We exclude from our non-GAAP financial measures non-cash charges to adjust the carrying values of goodwill, intangible
assets, other long-lived assets and investments to their es2mated fair values.

▪ We exclude from our non-GAAP financial  measures severance and other restructuring charges in connec2on with the
termina2on of personnel, closure of facili2es and related costs.

▪ We exclude from our non-GAAP financial measures the gains and losses on business disposi2ons, including investment
banking, legal and accoun2ng fees.

▪ We exclude from our non-GAAP financial measures the gains and losses on ex2nguishment of debt.

We may consider whether other significant items that arise in the future should also be excluded from our non-GAAP financial
measures.

We measure the performance of our business using a variety of metrics, including EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted pretax
income of  con2nuing opera2ons.  We also use EBITDA and pretax income of  con2nuing opera2ons as  factors  in  incen2ve
compensa2on calcula2ons for our employees. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted pretax income eliminate the impact of items that we
do not consider indica2ve of our core opera2ng performance and, we bel ieve,  provide meaningful  informa2on to assist  in
understanding our  financia l  results ,  analyz ing trends in  our  under ly ing bus iness ,  and assess ing our  prospects  for  future
performance.
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The following is a reconcilia2on of EBITDA from con2nuing opera2ons and adjusted EBITDA from con2nuing opera2ons:

  (in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Net income from con2nuing opera2ons - reported  $ (113,270)  $ (105,650)

Add back:     
Income taxes  (71,224)  (63,619)

Interest expense  14,446  22,077

Deprecia2on and amor2za2on  22,874  20,551

  (33,904)  (20,991)

EBITDA from con2nuing opera2ons  (147,174)  (126,641)

Adjustments:     
Loss con2ngencies - li2ga2on  373  (2,302)

Severance  1,105  (501)

Professional fees related to pending HRB Bank transac2on  7,024  —

Loss on sales of tax offices  —  230

  8,502  (2,573)

Adjusted EBITDA from con2nuing opera2ons  $ (138,672)  $ (129,214)

     
The following is a reconcilia2on of adjusted pretax income from con2nuing opera2ons:

  (in 000s) 
Three months ended July 31,  2013  2012

Pretax income from con2nuing opera2ons - reported  $ (184,494)  $ (169,269)

Adjustments:     
Loss con2ngencies - li2ga2on  373  (2,302)

Severance  1,105  (501)

Professional fees related to pending HRB Bank transac2on  7,024  —

Loss on sales of tax offices  —  230

  8,502  (2,573)

Pretax income from con2nuing opera2ons - adjusted  $ (175,992)  $ (171,842)

     
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This report and other documents filed with the Securi2es and Exchange Commission (SEC) may contain forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the securi2es laws. In addi2on, our senior management may make forward-looking statements orally to
analysts, investors, the media and others. Forward-looking statements can be iden2fied by the fact that they do not relate strictly to
historical or current facts. They oRen include words or varia2on of words such as “expects,” “an2cipates,” “intends,” “plans,”
“believes,” “seeks,” “es2mates,” “projects,” “forecasts,” “targets,” “would,” “wil l ,” “should,” “could,” “may” or other similar
expressions. Forward-looking statements provide management's current expecta2ons or predic2ons of future condi2ons, events or
results. All statements that address opera2ng performance, events or developments that we expect or an2cipate will occur in the
future are forward-looking statements. They may include es2mates of revenues, income, earnings per share, capital expenditures,
dividends, stock repurchase, liquidity, capital structure or other financial items, descrip2ons of management's plans or objec2ves
for future opera2ons, services or products, or descrip2ons of assump2ons underlying any of the above. All  forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they are made and reflect the Company's good faith beliefs, assump2ons and expecta2ons,
but they are not guarantees of future performance or events. Furthermore, the Company disclaims any obliga2on to publicly update
or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect changes in underlying assump2ons, factors, or expecta2ons, new informa2on,
data or methods, future events or other changes, except as required by law.
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By their nature, forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertain2es that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such differences include, but are not
limited to, a variety of economic, compe22ve and regulatory factors, many of which are beyond the Company's control and which  are
described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2013 in the sec2on en2tled “Risk Factors,” as well as
addi2onal factors we may describe from 2me to 2me in other filings with the Securi2es and Exchange Commission , including our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 11, 2013. In addi2on, with respect to the P&A Transac2on, there can be no assurances regarding
the ability to obtain all required regulatory and other approvals, the ability of the par2es to nego2ate and execute the addi2onal
required agreements as expected, or the terms and condi2ons of the addi2onal agreements . It is not possible to predict or iden2fy
all such factors and, consequently, no such list should be considered to be a complete set of all poten2al risks or uncertain2es.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes in our market risks from those reported at April 30, 2013 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4.     CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES – As of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-Q, we evaluated the
effec2veness of the design and opera2on of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)). The controls evalua2on was done under the supervision and with the par2cipa2on of management, including our Chief
Execu2ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on this evalua2on, our Chief Execu2ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effec2ve as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  – There were no changes during the last fiscal quarter that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial repor2ng.

PART II    OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.     LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For a descrip2on of our material pending legal proceedings, see discussion in Part I, Item 1, note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

Other than the risk factor discussed below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors from those reported at April 30,
2013 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Federal Reserve capital requirements may restrict our capital alloca/on strategies and we are therefore exploring alterna/ves to cease being an
SLHC. If we were to cease being an SLHC, the means we use to deliver financial services and products to our customers and the revenues and
profitability of those offerings could be adversely impacted.

Our subsidiary, HRB Bank, is a federal savings bank. Our Holding Companies are SLHCs because they control HRB Bank.

The Dodd-Frank Act requires the Federal Reserve to promulgate minimum capital requirements for SLHCs, including leverage
and risk-based capital requirements that are no less stringent than those applicable to insured depository ins2tu2ons at the 2me
the Dodd-Frank Act was enacted. On July 2, 2013, the Federal Reserve approved the Basel III Capital Rules, which implement a
revised defini2on of regulatory capital, a new common equity 2er 1 minimum capital requirement and a higher minimum 2er 1
capital requirement. The rule also requires certain levels of equity for the payment of dividends and bonuses, and amends the
methodologies for risk-weigh2ng assets. The Revised Capital Rules will become effec2ve for us as of January 1, 2015. See Part I,
Item 2 under "Regulatory Environment" of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Item 1, “Regula2on and Supervision - Bank and
Holding Companies” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as of April 30, 2013 for details of the new requirements.

The Federal Reserve Bank, the Company's primary banking regulator, has issued guidance set forth in Supervisory Le>er SR 09-4
(March 27, 2009) regarding the payment of dividends, stock redemp2ons and stock repurchases by bank holding companies.
Pursuant to Supervisory Le>er SR 11-11 (July 21, 2011), the Federal Reserve has directed
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examiners to apply the principles of SR 09-4 to SLHCs. Pursuant to SR 09-4, we have commi>ed to provide no2ce to the Federal
Reserve prior to paying dividends or repurchasing shares.

The Revised Capital Rules would require our Holding Companies to retain significant addi2onal capital, even though HRB Bank
has regulatory capital substan2ally above the “well capitalized” level. At this 2me, we do not foresee regulatory flexibility in this
regard in light of the Federal Reserve's views of the statutory requirements imposed under the Dodd-Frank Act. Accordingly, while
our current belief is that dividends at current levels would con2nue to be permi>ed as long as HRB Bank remains well capitalized,
the Federal Reserve will closely supervise and likely restrict our other capital alloca2on decisions, including stock repurchases,
acquisi2ons, and other forms of strategic investment.

On July 11, 2013, we entered into the P&A Agreement with Republic Bank. Simultaneously with any closing, HRB Bank will
convert into a na2onal banking associa2on, merge with and into Block Financial, surrender its bank charter, and cease to operate
as a separate legal en2ty. At that 2me, HRB and Block Financial would no longer be savings and loan holding companies subject to
regulatory oversight of the Federal Reserve or related regulatory capital requirements. See addi2onal discussion in Part I, Item 1,
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

We plan to con2nue to offer financial products and services to our clients subsequent to HRB Bank ceasing opera2ons and we
are currently nego2a2ng addi2onal agreements with Republic Bank, including an MSA Agreement and a related RPA Agreement,
under which Republic Bank will serve as the bank offering H&R Block-branded financial services and products, and we will service
and administer such financial services and products for Republic Bank.

The obliga2ons of the par2es to complete the P&A Transac2on are subject to the fulfillment of numerous condi2ons including
regulatory approval  and agreement upon, execu2on and del ivery of  the MSA Agreement and the RPA Agreement.  The P&A
Transac2on will not be consummated unless the par2es can agree on the terms and condi2ons of the MSA Agreement and RPA
Agreement, and we can provide no assurances when or if the par2es will be able to do so. Addi2onally, we cannot be certain when
or if  these condi2ons wil l  be sa2sfied, and therefore we cannot predict the 2ming or the l ikel ihood of comple2ng the P&A
Transac2on and ceasing to be regulated as an SLHC.

ITEM 2.    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

A summary of our purchases of H&R Block common stock during the first quarter of fiscal year 2014 is as follows:

(in 000s, except per share amounts) 

  
Total Number of

Shares Purchased (1 )  

Average
Price Paid
per Share  

Total Number of Shares

Purchased as Part of Publicly

Announced Plans or Programs(2 )  

Maximum Dollar Value of

Shares that May be Purchased

Under the Plans or Programs (2 )

May 1 – May 31  3  $ 27.93  —  $ 857,504

June 1 – June 30  147  $ 27.80  —  $ 857,504

July 1 – July 31  1  $ 28.14  —  $ 857,504
(1) We purchased approximately 151 thousand shares in connec2on with funding employee income tax withholding obliga2ons arising upon the lapse of restric2ons on restricted

shares and restricted share units.
(2) In June 2008, our Board of Directors approved an authoriza2on to purchase up to $2.0 billion of our common stock through June 2012. In June 2012, our Board of Directors

extended this authoriza2on through June 2015.

ITEM 3.    DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5.    OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 6.     EXHIBITS
The following exhibits are numbered in accordance with the Exhibit Table of Item 601 of Regula2on S-K:

31.1    Cer2fica2on by Chief Execu2ve Officer pursuant to Sec2on 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2    Cer2fica2on by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Sec2on 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Cer2fica2on by Chief Execu2ve Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted by Sec2on 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 Cer2fica2on by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted by Sec2on 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS    XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL    XBRL Extension Calcula2on Linkbase
101.LAB    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presenta2on Linkbase
101.DEF    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Defini2on Linkbase
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sec2on 13 or 15(d) of the Securi2es Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

H&R BLOCK, INC.
 

/s/ William C. Cobb

William C. Cobb
President and Chief Execu2ve Officer
September 5, 2013
 

/s/ Gregory J. Macfarlane

Gregory J. Macfarlane
Chief Financial Officer
September 5, 2013
 

/s/ Jeffrey T. Brown

Jeffrey T. Brown
Chief Accoun2ng and Risk Officer
September 5, 2013

46 H&R Block Q1 FY2014 Form 10-Q



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William C. Cobb, Chief Execu�ve Officer, cer�fy that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of H&R Block, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa�on included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condi�on, results of opera�ons and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4. The registrant's other cer�fying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial repor�ng (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informa�on rela�ng to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those en��es, par�cularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial repor�ng, or caused such internal control over financial repor�ng to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor�ng and the prepara�on of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles;

(c) Evaluated the effec�veness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effec�veness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evalua�on; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control  over financial  repor�ng that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial repor�ng; and

5. The registrant's other cer�fying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evalua�on of internal control over financial
repor�ng, to the registrant's auditors and the audit commi;ee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent func�ons):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or opera�on of internal control over financial repor�ng which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial informa�on; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial repor�ng.

Date: September 5, 2013  /s/ William C. Cobb

   William C. Cobb

   
Chief Execu�ve Officer
H&R Block, Inc.



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gregory J. Macfarlane, Chief Financial Officer, cer�fy that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of H&R Block, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa�on included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condi�on, results of opera�ons and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4. The registrant's other cer�fying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial repor�ng (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informa�on rela�ng to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those en��es, par�cularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial repor�ng, or caused such internal control over financial repor�ng to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial repor�ng and the prepara�on of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles;

(c) Evaluated the effec�veness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effec�veness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evalua�on; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control  over financial  repor�ng that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial repor�ng; and

5. The registrant's other cer�fying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evalua�on of internal control over financial
repor�ng, to the registrant's auditors and the audit commi=ee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent func�ons):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or opera�on of internal control over financial repor�ng which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial informa�on; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial repor�ng.

Date: September 5, 2013  /s/ Gregory J. Macfarlane

   Gregory J. Macfarlane

   
Chief Financial Officer
H&R Block, Inc.



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connec�on with the quarterly report of H&R Block, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10 ‑Q for the fiscal quarter ending July 31,
2013 as filed with the Securi�es and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William C. Cobb, Chief Execu�ve
Officer of the Company, cer�fy pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sec�on 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The informa�on contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condi�on and results
of opera�ons of the Company.

/s/ William C. Cobb

William C. Cobb
Chief Execu�ve Officer
H&R Block, Inc.
September 5, 2013



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connec�on with the quarterly report of H&R Block, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10 ‑Q for the fiscal quarter ending July 31,
2013 as filed with the Securi�es and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”),  I ,  Gregory J.  Macfarlane, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, cer�fy pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sec�on 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The informa�on contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condi�on and results
of opera�ons of the Company.

/s/ Gregory J. Macfarlane

Gregory J. Macfarlane
Chief Financial Officer
H&R Block, Inc.
September 5, 2013




